BEFORE THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION OF OHIO

In the Matter of the Adoption of Rules for)	
Standard Service Offer, Corporate Separation,)	
Reasonable Arrangements, and Transmission)	
Riders for Electric Utilities Pursuant to)	Case No. 08-777-EL-ORD
Sections 4928.14, 4928.17, and 4905.31,)	
Revised Code, as amended by Amended)	
Substitute Senate Bill No. 221.)	

REPLY COMMENTS BY THE OHIO CONSUMER AND ENVIRONMENTAL ADVOCATES

JANINE L MIGDEN-OSTRANDER OHIO CONSUMERS' COUNSEL

Jeffrey L. Small, Counsel of Record Terry L. Etter Maureen R. Grady Ann M. Hotz Michael Idzkowski Gregory Poulos Richard Reese Jacqueline Lake Roberts Larry Sauer Assistant Consumers' Counsel

Office of the Ohio Consumers' Counsel 10 West Broad Street, Suite 1800 Columbus, OH 43215 small@occ.state.oh.us etter@occ.state.oh.us grady@occ.state.oh.us hotz@occ.state.oh.us idzkowski@occ.state.oh.us poulos@occ.state.oh.us reese@occ.state.oh.us roberts@occ.state.oh.us roberts@occ.state.oh.us sauer@occ.state.oh.us PH: (614) 466-8574

Leigh Herington Executive Director NOPEC 31320 Solon Rd., Ste. 20 Solon, OH 44139 nopec@windstream.net PH: (440) 248-1992

Brandi Whetstone Sierra Club Ohio Chapter 131 N. High St., Suite 605 Columbus, OH 43215 Brandi.whetstone@sierraclub.org PH: (614) 461-0734 ext. 311

David C. Rinebolt Colleen L. Mooney Ohio Partners for Affordable Energy 231 West Lima St., P.O. Box 1793 Findlay, OH 45839-1793 drinebolt@aol.com cmooney2@columbus.rr.com PH: (419) 425-8860

Wendy B. Jaehn Executive Director Midwest Energy Efficiency Alliance 645 N. Michigan Ave., Ste. 990 Chicago, IL 60611 wjaehn@mwalliance.org

Gregory E. Hitzhusen, MDiv, Ph.D. Executive Director, Ohio Interfaith Power and Light P.O. Box 26671 Columbus, OH 43226 ohioipl@gmail.com

Michael R. Smalz Joseph V. Maskovyak Ohio State Legal Services Association Appalachian People's Action Coalition 555 Buttles Avenue Columbus, OH 43215 msmalz@oslsa.org jmaskovyak@oslsa.org

PH: (614) 221-7201

Noel M. Morgan Communities United for Action Legal Aid Society of Southwest Ohio 215 E. Ninth St. Cincinnati, OH 45202 nmorgan@lascinti.org PH: (513) 362-2837

Joseph Meissner
Counsel for Citizens Coalition
Citizens for Fair Utility Rates,
Neighborhood Environmental Coalition
Cleveland Housing Network,
Empowerment Center for Greater
Cleveland
The Legal Aid Society of Cleveland
1223 West 6th St.
Cleveland, OH 44113
jpmeissn@lasclev.org

Theodore Robinson Staff Attorney and Counsel Citizen Power 2424 Dock Road Madison, OH 44057 robinson@citizenpower.com

Ron Bridges
Associate State Director
Government Affairs & Advocacy
AARP Ohio
17 S. High Street, #800
Columbus, OH 43215
rbridges@aarp.org

PH: (614) 222-1503 (direct)

Amy Gomberg
Environment Ohio
203 E. Broad St., Suite 3
Columbus, OH 43215
agomberg@EnvironmentOhio.org

PH: (614) 460-8732

Leslie A. Kovacik
Dept. of Law
City of Toledo/NOAC
420 Madison Ave., 4th Fl.
Toledo, OH
Leslie.kovacik@toledo.oh.gov

PH: (419) 245-1893

Lance M. Keiffer, Asst. Prosecutor Lucas County/NOAC 711 Adams Street, 2nd Floor Toledo, OH 43624-1680 lkeiffer@co.lucas.oh.us

PH: (419) 213-4596

Ellis Jacobs
The Edgemont Neighborhood Coalition
of Dayton
Advocates for Basic Legal Equality
333 W. First St. Ste. 500
Dayton, OH 45402
ejacobs@ablelaw.org

PH: (937) 535-4419

Joseph Logan
Ohio Farmers Union
20 S. Third St., Ste. 130
Columbus, OH 43215
j-logan@ohfarmersunion.org

PH: (614) 221-7083

TABLE OF CONTENTS

				Page	
I.	INTF	RODUC	CTION	1	
	A.	Preliminaries			
	В.	The C	Commission's Questions	2	
		1.	Should the rules on the competitive bidding process (Prop Rule 4901:1-35-03, Appendix A Part (B)) provide for consideration of the alternative products and approaches to conducting competitive bidding	O .	
		2.	Should the Commission require consideration of the value of lost load in ensuring that customers' and the electric utility's expectations are aligned as required by Section 4928.143(B)(2)(h)?	3	
		3.	Should the Commission, by rule, invite a utility to identify in an ESP specific long-term objectives together with milestones and metrics for measuring progress? If so, are there specific topics that should be addressed?		
		4.	How should the rules define the baseline level of customer energy consumption from which reductions are measured?		
		5.	Should special arrangements provided for in Chapter 4901:1-38 be applicable only to customers of an electric utility providing service pursuant to an electric security plant.	an?6	
		6.	Should there be a cap on the level of incentives for special arrangements authorized pursuant to Chapter 4901:1-38?		
II.			UTILITY STANDARD SERVICE OFFER – CHAPTER	8	
	A.	Definitions – 4901:1-35-01 (Rule 1)9			
	B.	Purpo	ose and Scope – 4901:1-35-02 (Rule 2)	9	
	C.	Filing	g and Contents of Application – 4901:1-35-03 (Rule 3)	10	
	D.	Requ	nirements for Market-Rate Offers—Appendix A	15	
	E.	Reau	nirements for Electric Security Plans—Appendix B	25	

		1. General Requirements	25
		2. Specific Information	29
		3. Additional Required Information	35
	F.	Service of Application – 4901:1-35-04 (Rule 4)	36
	G.	Hearings 4901:1-35-06 (Rule 6)	38
	H.	Discoverable Agreements—4901:1-35-07 (Rule 7)	42
	I.	Competitive bidding process requirements and use of independent third party—4901:1-35-08 (Rule 8)	43
	J.	ESP Rule and Purchased Power Adjustments—Rule 4901:1-35-09 (Rule 9)	51
	K.	Annual Review of the ESP (Excessive Earnings Review)— Rule 4901:1-35-10 (Rule 10)	53
	L.	Competitive Bidding Process Ongoing Review and Reporting Requirements—4909:1-35-11 (Rule 11)	55
III.	TRA	NSMISSION COST RECOVERY – CHAPTER 4901:1-36	60
IV.	COR	PORATE SEPARATION – CHAPTER 4901:1-37	62
V.	SPEC	CIAL ARRANGEMENTS – CHAPTER 4901:1-38	64
	A.	Definitions – 4901:1-38-01 (Rule 1)	64
	B.	Purpose and Scope—4901:1-38-02 (Rule 2)	65
	C.	Economic Development Schedule—4901:1-38-03 (Rule 3)	65
	D.	Energy Efficiency Schedule—4901:1-38-04 (Rule 4)	71
	E.	Reporting Requirements—4901:1-38-06 (Rule 6)	77
	F.	Level of Incentives—Rule 4901:1-38-07 (Rule 7)	79
	G.	Revenue Recovery—Rule 4901:1-38-08 (Rule 8)	80
	H.	Failure to Comply—4901:1-38-09 (Rule 9)	81
VI.	CON	CLUSION	82

BEFORE THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION OF OHIO

In the Matter of the Adoption of Rules for)	
Standard Service Offer, Corporate Separation,)	
Reasonable Arrangements, and Transmission)	
Riders for Electric Utilities Pursuant to)	Case No. 08-777-EL-ORD
Sections 4928.14, 4928.17, and 4905.31,)	
Revised Code, as amended by Amended)	
Substitute Senate Bill No. 221.)	

REPLY COMMENTS BY THE OHIO CONSUMER AND ENVIRONMENTAL ADVOCATES

I. INTRODUCTION

A. Preliminaries

The Ohio Consumer and Environmental Advocates (collectively "OCEA")¹ jointly submit these reply comments to comments filed by other parties² addressing rules proposed in an Entry dated July 2, 2008. It should be noted that the following organizations are limiting their comments to issues that relate to the advanced energy portions of the rulemaking: Sierra Club Ohio Chapter, Greater Ohio and Environment Ohio. OCEA requests that the Public Utilities Commission of Ohio ("PUCO" or

¹OCEA includes the Office of the Ohio Consumers' Counsel, NOPEC, Ohio Partners for Affordable Energy, Ohio Interfaith Power and Light, Appalachian People's Action Coalition, Communities United for Action, Citizen Power, AARP, Northwest Ohio Aggregation Coalition, Edgemont Neighborhood Coalition of Dayton, and Ohio Farmers Union, and as to the Energy Efficiency comments only, Sierra Club Ohio Chapter, Midwest Energy Efficiency Alliance and Environment Ohio.

² OCEA responds to comments filed by Dayton Power & Light Company ("DP&L"); Duke Energy Ohio ("Duke"); Ohio Edison Company, The Cleveland Electric Illuminating Company, and the Toledo Edison Company (collectively "FirstEnergy" or "FE"); Columbus Southern Power Company and Ohio Power Company (together "AEP"); Industrial Energy Users-Ohio ("IEU"); The Alliance for Real Energy Options ("AREO"); The City of Cincinnati ("Cincinnati") American Municipal Power-Ohio, Inc. ("AMP-Ohio"); Ormet Primary Aluminum Corporation ("Ormet"); Nucor Steel Marion, Inc ("Nucor"); Ohio Energy Group, The Chemistry Technology Council, the Ohio Cast Metals Association, The Ohio Aggregates and Industrial Minerals Association and the Ohio Manufacturers' Association (collectively "OEG"); The Council of Small Enterprises ("COSE"); and the Ohio Farm Bureau Federation ("OFBF").

"Commission") adopt the revisions proposed by OCEA and not adopt the revisions of other parties that represent narrower self-interests than the public interests that are represented by the broad coalition this is OCEA.

This pleading also addresses comments filed in response to the six questions posed by the Commission in its Entry.³ OCEA requests that the Commission consider the responses provided to the questions in the PUCO's deliberations on the proposed rules, including the proposed changes to the rules that we have included to implement our responses to the Commission's questions.

Finally, the rules fail to address the requisite comparison between the Electric Security Plan rate and a Market Rate Option required by S.B. 221 (i.e. R.C. 4928.143(C)). This issue should be addressed so that there are consistent rules for making these comparisons and evaluating the results.

B. The Commission's Questions

1. Should the rules on the competitive bidding process (Proposed Rule 4901:1-35-03, Appendix A Part (B)) provide for consideration of the alternative products and approaches to conducting competitive bidding.

The vast number of respondents said yes.⁴ Duke and IEU are the only parties that disagreed but Duke did agree that the Commission should remain flexible with regard to CBP methodologies.⁵ Other parties, such as AREO, did not answer the question regarding alternative products and instead suggested a collaborative stakeholder process

2

³ Entry at 3-4, \P (7) (July 2, 2008).

⁴ AEP Comments at 22; Nucor Comments at 21; Ormet Comments at 4; DP&L Comments at 16; FE Comments at 2; AEP Comments at 22; OCEA Comments at 2; Cincinnati at 2.

⁵ Duke Comments at 2-3.

to discuss methodology. Several respondents recommended an Integrated Portfolio Management strategy that would determine the products used to meet energy needs based upon a least-cost approach. This approach would provide the greatest long-term benefit to all parties and should be adopted. Given the significant increases in rates that are being requested coupled with rising fuel costs, it is imperative that Ohio adopt a smart strategy that relies on least-cost planning. Only an Integrated Portfolio Management approach will accomplish this objective.

2. Should the Commission require consideration of the value of lost load in ensuring that customers' and the electric utility's expectations are aligned as required by Section 4928.143(B)(2)(h)?

The respondents had different interpretations of "the value of lost load." Duke and FirstEnergy seemed to interpret it to mean that customers should be compensated for periods when a customer experiences an outage. AEP and OEG seemed to interpret it as a means of justifying increased expenditures for the distribution system. DP&L, Cincinnati and OCEA interpreted it more as a reference to assisting utilities that have lost load. Many parties did not discuss it. In any case, the Commission must clarify what it meant by "the value of lost load" if the Commission would like more focused responses.

If the Commission intended it to mean that customers should be compensated for the loss of service during an outage, OCEA believes that the Commission should consider "the value of lost load" in R.C. 4928.143(B)(2)(h) proceedings. If the Commission

⁶ AREO Comments at 9-10.

⁷ Ormet Comments at 4; OEG Comments at 12; and OCEA Comments at 3-6.

⁸ Duke Comments at 4; FE Comments at 3.

⁹ AEP Comments at 22; OEG Comments at 12.

¹⁰ OCEA Comments at 6-7 and DP&L at 16.

intended it to mean assisting utilities who have lost load, the Commission should also consider the "lost load" suffered by customers through outages and offset its consideration of the "lost load" of utilities by the "lost load" of customers.

Ultimately, utilities should never be able to recover through any special rate increase mechanisms anything but clearly distinguishable fixed distribution costs.

Operations and maintenance expenditures and other variable costs should be recovered through measured usage and not the customer charge. Certainly, the Commission should never allow the recovery of distribution costs until the Commission has clearly distinguished those costs from generation costs.

3. Should the Commission, by rule, invite a utility to identify in an ESP specific long-term objectives together with milestones and metrics for measuring progress? If so, are there specific topics that should be addressed?

The utilities objected to the long-term planning.¹¹ Most other parties believe that long term planning could be beneficial. OEG perceives that the new filings are too complicated and the mandates too broad to allow for ongoing measurements. But OCEA continues to believe that the utilities should establish milestones through a public process for distribution service that includes specific performance standards and predetermined penalties. Utilities should also have to meet milestones for new construction and for identifying least cost alternatives.

4. How should the rules define the baseline level of customer energy consumption from which reductions are measured?

There appears to be some confusion in the various responses to this question.

Some responses appear to conflate what an individual manufacturing baseline should be, with the macro utility baseline which is that baseline against which the mandated energy

¹¹ DP&L Comments at 16; FE Comments at 4; Duke Comments at 4; AEP Comments at 23.

savings levels are to be measured. The former is the question being asked the latter is specified in Sections 4928.66(A)(2)(a), 4928.66(A)(2)(b) and 4928.66(A)(2)(c) of the Revised Code. For example, Duke and OEG support a 3 year average of consumption in response to the baseline question. This suggestion corresponds with the provisions of S.B. 221 and should be adopted regarding the macro utility baseline but omits other important considerations such as those posited by OCEA. The 3-year average is much too simplistic of an approach to determine a manufacturer's baseline at a micro level.

The OEG suggestion that the baseline be designed to avoid gaming, "known and measurable changes" is suggested as a controlling term. ¹⁴ FirstEnergy recommended that "there be no individual customer baseline methodology used to estimate consumption reductions." ¹⁵ Nucor Steel concurs and proposed that the determination should be left to each utility with customer input and review by the Commission. This general proposition is well advised; it implicitly recognizes the challenges inherent in thousands of separate monitoring and verification procedures. DP&L's suggestion that individual verification not be required and their perception that engineering estimates should be sufficient is not acceptable. Engineering estimates have historically overstated savings and should be used with caution. Only measures with long verification track records are appropriate for engineering estimates. And again, OCEA would point the Commission to international energy efficiency verification protocols such as IPMVP. Over-reliance on anything other than individual verification would probably overstate savings and invite gaming.

1

¹² The Duke Comments, at 6 and OEG Comments at 13.

¹³ OCEA Comments at 11-14.

¹⁴ OEG Comments at 13.

¹⁵ FE Comments at 4.

DP&L recommended that mercantile customers that contribute energy efficiency credits to utilities to meet their targets so that they can avoid the energy efficiency surcharge, must provide savings equal to or better than the required statutory savings for the year. This rule is necessary to prevent huge losses to the surcharge by mercantile customers who save minimal amounts of use as DP&L warned. Shifting the bulk of responsibility for savings and financial responsibility to residential and small commercial customers will not result in a just and reasonable outcome.

5. Should special arrangements provided for in Chapter 4901:1-38 be applicable only to customers of an electric utility providing service pursuant to an electric security plan?

OCEA said special arrangements should be used minimally and only under an ESP. All other parties said no. OCEA continues to believe that special arrangements must be kept to a minimum. Residential customers are facing dramatic increases in not just their energy bills but also in most essential needs. Residential customers should not have to subsidize large customers who do not bring a clear and continuing benefit to them and their communities. Many of the interested parties providing comments, including utilities, are concerned that special arrangements will not be awarded to just those customers who benefit the communities and that no one will be responsible for ensuring that those customers awarded benefits will follow through on their commitments.

Additionally, the Commission should make public the customers who are awarded the special arrangements, the level of discount provided them and the benefits the customer has promised to give to the community as recommended by many parties filing comments.

-

¹⁶ DP&L Comments at 18.

6. Should there be a cap on the level of incentives for special arrangements authorized pursuant to Chapter 4901:1-38?

Two of the utilities were not in favor of a cap on the level of incentives for special arrangements.¹⁷ Both of them perceived the cap as creating an impediment to economic development programs. DP&L and AEP prefer the guidance of a cap.¹⁸ Ormet, Nucor and IEU perceived that a cap is not necessary and suggested that incentive levels should be set on a case-by-case basis.¹⁹ OEG preferred the cap on individual customers but not statewide.²⁰ Cincinnati, AREO and OCEA preferred a cap.²¹

COSE recommended that the special arrangement incentives should be tied to the user class.²² COSE seemed to suggest that the industrial class be one class and that the commercial and residential customers be another class. COSE appeared to be suggesting that only the industrial class contribute to industrial incentives and only the commercial and residential class pay the discount for smaller customers. COSE also recommended that the longer the incentive, the more reporting the beneficiary should be required to prove that it is benefiting the class paying the incentive.

OCEA continues to believe that the award of special arrangements to customers should be few and far between. The Commission should be held accountable for awarding these contracts and ensuring that commitments made by the customers do not fall by the wayside. The Commission can best maintain accountability by making it

¹⁷ Duke Comments at 7; FE Comments at 5.

¹⁸ DP&L Comments at 18; AEP Comments at 23.

¹⁹ Ormet Comments at 6; Nucor Comments at 22; IEU Comments at 21.

²⁰ OEG Comments at 14.

²¹ OCEA Comments at 15; AREO Comments at 15.

²² COSE Comments at 5.

public knowledge which of the customers receive the special arrangements, the discounts those customers will receive and the commitments those customers have made to the communities and the State in exchange for the discounts.

II. ELECTRIC UTILITY STANDARD SERVICE OFFER – CHAPTER 4901:1-35

FirstEnergy stated that "the Commission's rules must closely reflect the express language of the statute and may not vary from or go beyond the Ohio legislature's intent as delineated in the words used in Am. Sub. S.B. 221."²³ The other utilities had similar comments. But the statute expressly defers to the Commission most of the substantive decisions.²⁴ The Commission can not meet the directives of the statute without providing clear directions to the electric utilities on what they need to do in order to provide competitive market-rate offers or electric security plans that are more favorable in the aggregate. The electric utilities continue to benefit from monopoly franchises and the Commission must provide sufficient direction and monitoring of monopoly distribution services—including generation—that are the source of utility revenues.

The utilities' retain significant market power in generation sales. The Commission cannot defer to the utilities to create just and reasonable rates. The Commission cannot meet its obligations under Am. Sub. S.B. 221 if it does not create rules and processes that will ensure that the utilities charge reasonable rates and provide adequate service.

2

²³ FE Comments at 1-2.

²⁴ Am. Sub. S.B. 221 requires the Commission to establish rules for R.C. 4928.141, R.C. 4928.142, R.C. 4928.143 and many other sections.

A. Definitions – 4901:1-35-01 (Rule 1)

FirstEnergy argues that the definition "Electric security plan" under Rule 1(E) should be revised to state "means an electric utility plan for the supply and pricing of electric generation service INCLUDING OTHER MATTERS THAT MAY BE

PROPOSED BY THE ELECTRIC UTILITY pursuant to R.C. 4928.143 of the Revised Code." While R.C. 4928.143 permits utilities to propose certain specific generation items and other distribution items in their electric security plan, it does not allow the utilities to collect revenues for anything it chooses. Therefore the Commission should not adopt FirstEnergy's proposed language. Rather, the Commission should simply revise the definition of "Electric security plan" to state:

Means an electric utility plan for the supply and pricing of electric generation-service AS PROVIDED FOR UNDER pursuant to R.C. 4928.143.

B. Purpose and Scope – 4901:1-35-02 (Rule 2)

AREO recommended that Rule 2(A) be expanded to include in the purpose of the rules the following statement:

The purpose of this chapter is to establish rules for the form and process under which an electric utility shall file an application for an SSO THAT DOES NOT IMPAIR GOVERNMENTAL AGGREGATION OR A RETAIL CUSTOMER'S ABILITY TO PURCHASE GENERATION FOR A COMPETITIVELY PRICED RETAIL ELECTRIC SUPPLIER and the commission's review of that application.

This suggested revision reflects the state policies under R.C. 4928.02(B) and (C) and should be adopted, with a minor clarification:

The purpose of this chapter is to establish rules for the form and process under which an electric utility shall file an application for an SSO THAT DOES NOT IMPAIR GOVERNMENTAL AGGREGATION CUSTOMER'S OR A RETAIL CUSTOMER'S ABILITY TO PURCHASE GENERATION FOR A

COMPETITIVELY PRICED RETAIL ELECTRIC OFFER SUPPLIER and the commission's review of that application.

C. Filing and Contents of Application – 4901:1-35-03 (Rule 3)

The substance of the applications filed by an electric utility is critical to evaluating compliance with the statute and producing the least-cost outcome for customers. Am. Sub. S.B. 221 provides an electric distribution utility with wide latitude in the structure of its filing. However, the nature of the filing is circumscribed both substantively and procedurally. The statute requires an electric utility to demonstrate compliance with state policy goals. It also creates an affirmative obligation to provide the evidence necessary to evaluate all aspects of the application—the electric utility has the burden of proof. FirstEnergy correctly notes that the application should include direct testimony, with provision made for reply and supplemental testimony.²⁵

The comments of AEP indicate the company has the view that an electric utility may file a MRO or an ESP as initial plans prior to the effective date of the Rules.²⁶ FE shares that view. This reading of the statute is incorrect. As noted in R.C. 4928.141(A), "...the utility's first standard service offer application at a minimum shall include a filing under section 4928.143 of the Revised Code" though it "may apply simultaneously under both sections [4928.142 or 4928.143]". Proposed R.C. 4928:1-35-03(C) correctly notes that the ESP and MRO are to be filed as a single application and should not be modified.

Many of the comments of the electric utilities focused on the timeline for consideration of applications, the need to "conform" to the final regulations, and the requirement to refile when the application cannot be revised to comply with the rules.

²⁶ AEP Initial Comments at 2.

²⁵ FE Initial Comments at 6-7.

^{2.5}

The general thrust of these comments is that the Commission must act within the 150 days from filing, creating tremendous pressure on consumer advocates to effectively ensure that the standard service offers ("SSO") comply with the law. The beginning of the SSO journey begins, and the countdown begins when an application is properly filed and supported and complies with the statute and the rules authorized by statute.

The General Assembly did not mandate an arbitrary deadline for consideration as argued by the utilities. R.C. 4928.142(B)(3) provides that if the Commission finds that the utility's MRO does not meet the requirements of a market rate offer:

The commission shall direct the electric distribution utility regarding how any deficiency may be remedied in a timely manner to the commission satisfaction; otherwise, the electric distribution utility shall withdraw the application.

Therefore, the Commission has direct authority to not approve a market rate option, and authority to require that the utility withdraw an application that is "not within substantive compliance with this rule" and refile the application.

The same is true for an ESP. R.C. 4928.143(A) provides:

For the purpose of complying with section 4928.141 of the Revised Code ...[t]he utility may file that application prior to the effective date of any rules the commission may adopt for the purposes of this section, and, as the commission determines necessary, the utility immediately shall conform its filings to those rules upon their taking effect.

To better reflect these requirements, OCEA recommends the following addition to proposed rule 4901:1-35(C):

** First applications that are filed with the commission prior to the effective date of this rule and THAT DO NOT MEET ALL OF THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE RULE MAY BE SUPPLEMENTED TO MEET ALL THE REQUIREMENTS. HOWEVER, FIRST APPLICATIONS THAT ARE FILED WITH THE COMMISSION PRIOR TO THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF

THIS RULE AND that are determined by the commission to be not in substantive compliance with this rule, shall be refiled at the direction of the commission.

The statute also contemplates what will happen should the SSO application not be approved. R.C. 4928.141(B) states:

Notwithstanding the foregoing provision, the rate plan of an electric distribution utility shall continue for the purpose of the utility's compliance with this division until a standard service offer is first authorized under section 4928.142 or 4928.143 of the Revised Code.

The utilities, other than DP&L, are determined to force a land rush approach to establishing customer rates. AEP contends that the 150 days must start with the filing of the plan, not with conformance to the rule requirements. Duke argues that the Commission should be required to make a decision on whether the application conforms within 60 days and electric utilities should be required to amend or refile an application to bring it into compliance with the rules within 30 days.

FE argues that the statute prohibits any rules that would delay a decision beyond 150 days. It also argues that a decision on whether a utility meets the criteria in R.C. 4928.143 for an MRO must be made in 90 days from the date of filing. FirstEnergy's position can be summed up as requiring a 150 day ruling and the Commission cannot require re-filing of either a MRO or ESP.

There is a need to recognize that FE does not 'own' generation, so there is a greater imperative to dealing with its application. Nonetheless, the utilities have chosen to ignore the requirements of the statutes that the 150 day limit applies at the point where an application complies with the statute. Such a limited reading of the statute would severely handicap the ability of customer advocates such as the members of OCEA from

having the opportunity to make the arguments so that the reasoned outcome envisioned by the General Assembly occurs.

If the utilities want self-imposed deadlines for modifying their proposals to comply with rules or to withdraw and refile a proposal they certainly may do so but there is no statutory support for rules in that regard. The authority of the Commission to require conformance with the rules and require re-filing of an application if it is not responsive to statutory requirements is clearly grounded in statute. If a utility chooses to voluntarily file an MRO as a part of the initial SSO application which must include an ESP, R.C. 4928.142(B)(3) dictates that the "utility shall not initiate its competitive bid until at least one hundred fifty days after the filing of those applications."²⁷ The ninety day timeframe requires a decision on whether the "electric distribution utility and its market-rate offer meet all of the foregoing requirements," as dictated by the subsections of R.C. 4928.142(B). NOPEC is correct in pointing out that this should be included in the rules. OCEA recommends the following sentence be added to proposal rule 4901:1-35-03(C):

THE MRO COMPETITIVE BID PROCESS ("CBP")
SHALL NOT TAKE PLACE UNTIL A MINIMUM OF
NINETY DAYS AFTER THE ESP COMPONENT OF
THE INITIAL APPLICATION IS APPROVED.

NUCOR made a reasonable suggestion, urging that approved SSO rates not be implemented until ninety days after approval of the application.²⁸ OCEA agrees that ninety days would provide customers with an opportunity to shop once the final outcome, whether an ESP or an MRO, is known. To do otherwise would frustrate the intent of the

_

²⁷ Northeast Ohio Public Energy Council ("NOPEC") at 9.

²⁸ NUCOR Comments at 3-4.

General Assembly to promote competitive markets. Under the statute, electric utilities are granted time to prepare for the bid. Customers should likewise have the opportunity to prepare for the implementation of the outcome of a CBP or the ESP. It also will be important to ensure that the CBP or the ESP is correctly reflected in tariffs. The applications may result in fundamental changes in how rates are established – e.g., if bidding by customer class occurs – that will require some thought prior to translation into tariffs.

To reflect both these well-reasoned additions, OCEA recommends the following sentences be added at the end of proposal rule 4901:1-35-03(C):

The MRO competitive bid process ("CBP") shall not take place until a minimum of ninety days after the ESP component of the initial application is approved. The commission shall determine when the SSO rates take effect, but in no case will SSO rates take effect earlier than ninety days after the rates have been approved.

NUCOR also recommended a new subsection (E) that requires the SSO application to demonstrate the transition from existing rates as of July 1, 2008 to the new SSO. NUCOR also supports the position of OCEA that the applications demonstrate compliance with state policy. OCEA appreciates the potential difficulties of complying with these rules but nonetheless recommends that the requirement be retained, including the suggestion of the OEG, that the formulas be included, and that the electric utility be permitted to ask to waive this particular requirement when compliance is not possible.²⁹

There are no other comments on proposed section 4901:1-35-03. OCEA stands behind its initial comments requesting additional detail in the applications; the need to conform initial applications with the rules; the need to show compliance with state policy

-

²⁹ OEG Comments at 2.

as enunciated in R.C. 4928.02; the requirement that a corporate separation plan prohibit the shifting of earnings from the electric distribution utility to other affiliates of the holding company; and, the requirement for a ten-year procurement plan for SSO consisting of a long-term portfolio management and resource procurement plan designed to produce the least-cost outcome for customers.

D. Requirements for Market-Rate Offers—Appendix A

Generally, FirstEnergy and AEP complained that the Staff did not use the exact words of the statute, arguing that to not do so was going beyond the latitude that was provided in the legislation. The utilities are wrong. The General Assembly granted the Commission authority to establish rules for the competitive bid in R.C. 4928.141(B) and R.C. 4928.142(A)(2). The General Assembly would not have authorized the Commission to establish rules if it intended the rules to be exactly the same as the legislation. Rather, the General Assembly delegated to the Commission the establishment of rules consistent with the intent of the legislation that fleshed out the concepts set forth in the statute and gave specificity to general directions. As noted by the Ohio Supreme Court:

The power of an administrative agency to administer a program necessarily requires the formulation of policy and the making of reasonable rules to fill any gap left, implicitly or explicitly, by the legislature. ³¹

R.C. 4928.142(B)(2) requires that in order to provide a market based offer a utility must demonstrate:

.

15

³⁰ FE Comments at 16; AEP Comments at 12.

³¹ Northwestern Ohio Bldg. & Constr. Trades Council v. Conrad, 92 Ohio St. 3d 282 (2001).

Any such regional transmission organization [an RTO approved by the FERC] has a market-monitor function and the ability to take actions to identify and mitigate market power or the electric distribution utility's market conduct; or a similar market monitoring function exists with commensurate ability to identify and monitor market condition and mitigate conduct associated with the exercise of market power.

In response to that, the Staff proposed Appendix A Section (A)(2):

The electric utility shall establish one of the following: that its RTO retains an independent market monitor that has the ability to identify any potential for a market participant to exercise market power in any energy capacity, and/or ancillary service markets necessary for a winning bidder to fulfill the contractual obligations resulting from the CBP, whether such market is administered by the RTO or whether it is a bilateral market necessary for a winning bidder to fulfill the contractual obligations resulting from the CBP, by virtue of access to the RTO and the market participant's data and personnel, and that has the authority to mitigate the conduct of the market participants so as to prevent or preclude the exercise of market power by any market participant; or, if no such market monitor exists, the electric utility shall demonstrate that an equivalent function exists which can monitor, identify, and mitigate conduct associated with the exercise of market power.

FirstEnergy argued that the Staff's language "ability to identify any potential for a market participant to exercise market power" goes beyond its latitude in rulemaking and even conflicts with the legislative language.³² FirstEnergy is wrong.

The Staff proposed rule interprets the phrase "the ability to take actions to identify and mitigate market power or the electric distribution utility's market conduct." The Staff's proposed rule describes those actions it believes are necessary for an RTO to identify and mitigate market power." The Staff perceives that an RTO does not have that ability unless it can identify "any potential for a market participant to exercise market power." Staff is not the only party to grasp this key concept.

³² FE Comments at 16.

Market power and its abuses are frequently not identified until after the fact, when a market has failed. This was the case in California when the traders of the major companies manipulated the market, causing extreme, unnecessary rate hikes, bankrupt electric utilities and outages that led to the state of California having to purchase electricity under very uneconomic terms, and years of litigation between the states and FERC. It was only after one of the power suppliers filed bankruptcy and the documents and tapes of the power supplier became available to the public that the extent of the manipulation became evident to public officials. Public utilities, such as the public utility districts in the northwest, battled to the Supreme Court to force restitution to their customers. Ohio can learn from these realities and work to prevent the abuses of oligopolies.

Because market power and market power abuses can be hidden through confidentiality and proprietary laws, a market monitor cannot effectively identify market abuses and market power unless it is on the alert, aware of where and when it can occur. Competition and employee incentive programs will always put pressure on companies and their employees to take advantage of market power whenever possible. A market monitor is simply not able to "mitigate market power" as required under R.C. 4928.142(B)(2) and R.C. 4928.06 (C) if it is unable "to prevent or preclude the exercise of market power by any market participant" as required under the proposed Appendix A, Section A(2).

FirstEnergy also complained that the Staff does not have the latitude to define market mitigation as involving each of the markets it identifies: energy, capacity, and ancillary service or bilateral markets. Instead, FirstEnergy stated that the market monitor

must only be able to have the "ability to take actions to identify and mitigate market power." However, if the monopoly control of markets identified by the Staff does not involve each or any of the markets the Staff identifies, which are common electric generation markets, FirstEnergy failed to explain in which market the market monitor can mitigate market power. Once again, FirstEnergy's insistence that the rules language must "be limited to the precise wording of Am. Sub. S.B. 221" does not make sense.

Duke argued that Section (A)(2) be revised to remove the requirement that the market monitor has the ability to identify the potential for a market participant to exercise market power in any markets that are "necessary for a winning bidder to fulfill the contractual obligations resulting from the CBP." Duke did not explain why it thought that phrase should be removed.³⁴ In any case, the phrase should not be removed because if any market that bidders must use has failed due to market power, the Commission cannot expect a valid competitive bid. If the market monitor is unable to mitigate market power in any of the required markets for the bid, the CBP will not produce competitive or reasonable prices. Accordingly, Duke's suggestion should not be incorporated into the rule.

Section A(2), Appendix A regarding the market monitor should be amended to ensure the market monitor has all the information necessary to mitigate the conduct of market participants as contemplated by the proposed rule:

The electric utility shall establish one ALL of the following. FIRST, that its RTO retains an independent market monitor that has the DEMONSTRATED ability to identify THE any potential for a market participant to exercise market power in any energy, capacity, and/or ancillary service markets necessary for a winning

³³ FE Comments at 16.

³⁴ Duke Comments at 20-21.

bidder to fulfill the BIDDER'S contractual obligations resulting from the CBP (INCLUDING ACCESS TO THE CONTRACTS BETWEEN THE WINNING BIDDER AND THE COMPANIES THAT WILL SUPPLY THE WINNING BIDDER), whether such market is administered by the RTO or whether it is a bilateral market necessary for a winning bidder to fulfill the contractual obligations resulting from the CBP by virtue of access to the RTO and the market participant's data and personnel, and that THE INDEPENDENT MARKET MONITOR has the authority to mitigate the conduct of the market participants so as to prevent or preclude the exercise of market power by any market participant. or SECOND, if no such market monitor exists, the electric utility shall demonstrate thAT an equivalent function exists which THAT can monitor, identify, and HAS THE DEMONSTRATED ABILITY TO mitigate conduct associated with the exercise of market power.

R.C. 4928.142(B)(3) states:

A published source of information is available publicly or through subscription that identifies pricing information for traded electricity on-and off-peak energy products that are contracts for delivery beginning at least two years from the date of the publication and is updated on a regular basis.

FirstEnergy and AEP argued that the Staff's proposed Appendix A Section (A)(3), which is intended to implement that section is inconsistent because Staff's rule does not precisely mirror the law. Once again, the utilities are denying that the rules have any purpose. FirstEnergy and AEP claimed that it was unreasonable for the Staff to require that the source of published information be "independent and reliable." While it is true that the legislation did not specifically state that the information must be independent and reliable, the utilities cannot possibly argue that the General Assembly purposefully left that "legal standard" out because they expect bidders and other interested parties to rely on unreliable, biased information. Because the Staff knows, more so than the General Assembly, that some published information, has been biased

19

³⁵ FE Comments at 17; AEP Comments at 12.

and unreliable, the Staff again complied with the Supreme Court's directive to "fill any gap left, implicitly or explicitly, by the legislature." Again, it is absurd for the utilities to claim that the General Assembly does not care if the information published is unreliable and biased.

FirstEnergy and AEP also claimed that R.C. 4928.142(B) did not necessarily intend the published information to be "relevant to the electric utility's electricity market" and argued that the Staff's incorporation of that provision in the rule to be beyond its latitude.³⁷ If the General Assembly did require that published information be available it is doubtful that it expected that the available published information would not be relevant to the regional electricity markets. There is no purpose for the published information if it is not relevant. For those reasons, the Staff's proposed rules should not be revised.

Duke argued that Section A(3) of Appendix A should be revised to allow its own electric pricing information stand in for the "published source of information" required under R.C. 4928.142(B)(3) as a prerequisite to a MRO. The Commission should not allow a utility that has so much interest in the MRO, such as Duke, to provide the source of pricing information. The published source of information should be "independent and reliable" as the Staff proposed in its Rule; otherwise the information is useless.

Additionally, Duke deleted the phrase "to fulfill the contractual obligations resulting from the CBP is publicly available" without explaining the reason.³⁸ Duke states that it revised the rule to allow all bid participants to have access to public pricing

20

_

³⁶ Northwestern Ohio Bldg. & Constr. Trades Council v. Conrad, 92 Ohio St. 3d 282 (2001).

³⁷ FE Comments at 18; AEP at 12.

³⁸ Duke Comments at 22.

data. But the rule as written does allow all bid participants to have access to public pricing information:

> The electric utility shall demonstrate that an independent and reliable source of electricity pricing information for any product or service necessary for a winning bidder to fulfill the contractual obligations resulting from the CBP is publicly available (emphasis added).

The Commission should not adopt Duke's recommended changes.

AREO recommended adding additional language to Section B that specifies exactly what the CBP is. But the additional language does not provide the flexibility permitted under the CBP.³⁹ For example, the CBP does not necessarily have to include transmission, ancillary services or RTO costs. If a CBP can obtain a lower overall rate for the customer by allowing the utility to provide some of the transmission, ancillary services or RTO costs, a different CBP should be permitted. On the other hand, the clarifications provided in the additional language does provide some consistency that would simplify the process and would allow competitive retail electric suppliers a clear bid target against which they can compete.⁴⁰

Perhaps the best means of allowing for maximum flexibility to provide the lowest rate possible under the CBP and yet to ensure that bids are comparable is for the Staff to require that every cost component included in an MRO be identified and priced separately under all bids. If the utility would like to provide any of the cost components, the utility would have to price certain cost components ahead of time and would allow the utility to include a risk component in their price.

³⁹ AREO Comments, Exhibit B at 2.

⁴⁰ AREO Comments at 17.

AREO also recommended that more details be included in the description of the CBP plan under (B)(1), which would better flesh out the process.

AREO requested that the Commission require very specific and extensive credit for potential wholesale bidders of the CBP. These requirements should not be excessive so as to discourage smaller but reasonably reliable potential bidders. Before the Commission adopts these or any other credit requirements they should check with other Commissions, such as the New Jersey Service Commission, who have extensive experience with how credit requirements have affected bids or how they have not been sufficiently strict to prevent defaults with insufficient collateral.

Staff's Appendix A Section (B)(2)provides that each CBP plan should include:

Pro forma financial projections on the effect of the CBP plan's implementation upon generation, transmission, and distribution of the electric utility or its affiliate for the duration of the CBP plan.

FirstEnergy complained that it should not be required to provide financial projections on the effect of its CBP plan to affiliates because R.C. 4928.143(F) does not permit the Commission to consider earnings of affiliates in determining whether the utility has excess earnings.⁴² FirstEnergy's analogy is not appropriate.

Under 4928.18(B) the Commission has the authority to:

Examine books, accounts, or other records kept by an electric utility or its affiliates as may relate to the businesses for which corporate separation is required under section 4928.17 of the R.C. and may investigate such utility or affiliate operations as may relate to those businesses and investigate the interrelationship of those operations.

⁴¹ AREO Comments, Exhibit B at 3-4.

⁴² AREO Comments, Exhibit B at 3-4.

Nothing in R.C. 4928.142 or 4928.143 undermines the Commission's 4928.18(B) authority. R.C. 4928.143 (F) simply does not extend that authority in quantifying earnings for purposes of determining whether the utility is acquiring excess earnings. For all other purposes, the Commission retains the right to investigate the interrelationship of the utility and its affiliates, as long as the utility is sharing resources and transacting with its affiliates. Accordingly, the Staff's rule should not be revised.

AEP argued that Section (B)(2) should not include the submission of pro forma financial projections of the competitive bidding process plan's implementation upon transmission and distribution operations or rates because the CBP is intended to establish generation rates only. However, while the CBP is intended to only affect generation rates, it may also affect transmission and distribution operations based upon where or how generation is obtained or what sort of energy supplies the CBP will provide.

Accordingly, the provision should remain as it has been proposed.

AEP complained that Section (B)(10) requires the utility to make a comparison between the projected adjusted generation service pricing under the CBP to the projected generation service pricing under its proposed electric security plan. ⁴⁴ AEP argued that "there is no allowance for testing a proposed MRO by comparing it to a proposed ESP." But R.C. 4928.143(C)(1) essentially states that the Commission must not approve an MRO if it finds that in the first application the ESP "is more favorable in the aggregate as compared to the expected results that would otherwise apply under section 4928.142." That law also states that the utility has the burden of proof. Therefore the comparison

⁴³ AEP Comments at 13.

⁴⁴ AEP Comments at 13.

required by Section (B)(10) is quite relevant to at least the first application made by the utilities and should remain in the rules.

Ormet suggested that the blending provisions of the MRO as discussed under B(10) of Appendix A should require, to the extent that utility assets are incorporated into the blended rates, that the least cost utility owned resources should be assigned to this rate.⁴⁵ This is appropriate and should be incorporated into Section (B)(10) of Appendix A accordingly:

* * *The proposed blending shall show the generation service price(s), WHICH IF INCLUDING GENERATION OWNED BY THE UTILITY MUST BE BASED UPON THE LEAST COST GENERATION THE UTILITY OWNS, that will be blended with the CBP determined rates, and any descriptions,* * *

Again, under Section (B)(14), FirstEnergy and Duke do not want to be held to the state policies delineated under R.C. 4928.02(A) through (N). The utilities argued that they conflict with one another so they are impossible to achieve with respect to MRO applications.⁴⁶ Duke argued in this section that R.C. 4928.02(H) prohibits subsidies and therefore conflicts with R.C. 4928.02(J), which allows for subsidies to environmental technologies.⁴⁷ But there is no conflict between the two policies because R.C. 4928.02(H) prohibits "anticompetitive subsidies" and subsidizing environmental technologies is not anticompetitive.

Every MRO application can achieve each of the state policies (A) through (N) to one degree or another and it is necessary in order to meet the General Assembly's

⁴⁵ Ormet Comments at 3.

⁴⁶ FE Comments at 20; Duke Comments at 24.

⁴⁷ Duke Comments at 24.

directives. MRO applications being "generally consistent" is not sufficient. FirstEnergy and Duke should be required to show how its MRO application promotes each of the state policies (A) through (N) and the Staff's proposed rule should not be revised. FirstEnergy's and Duke's recommendations are contrary to Am. Sub. S.B. 221 and should be rejected.

IEU recommended that Appendix A address the fact that bidders can include in their bids transmission service, ancillary or other RTO costs under Rule 4901:1-36-04. Because bidders can include those items in their bids, something in the rules must ensure that customers do not pay for them twice, once through the bid and once through charges to the utility. In order to ensure that customers do not pay for them twice, the Commission should adopt an additional sentence under Section B(8) of Appendix A that states:

THE DESCRIPTION SHALL PROVIDE AN EXPLANATION AS TO HOW BIDS THAT INCLUDE TRANSMISSION, ANCILLARY SERVICES OR OTHER RTO RELATED COSTS WILL BE EVALUATED IN RELATION TO THOSE BIDS THAT DO NOT.

E. Requirements for Electric Security Plans—Appendix B

1. General Requirements

As part of the filing for an ESP, the Staff proposes in Section (B) that the utilities should be required to include:

Pro forma financial projections of the effect of the ESP's implementation upon the electric utility for the duration of the ESP.

AEP requested that this provision be eliminated because the law only permits a prospective review of excessive earnings for a proposed ESP that exceeds three years and

_

⁴⁸ IEU Comments at 10.

should be required by only those ESPs that exceed three years. ⁴⁹ Without conceding that AEP's interpretation of the law is correct on this point, OCEA asserts that the Commission must determine if the proposed ESP is "more favorable in the aggregate" than expected results of the MRO. This comparison can only be made if utilities and ultimately regulators can project the effect of the ESP for the duration of the ESP. Further, because the utility has the burden of proof in ESP proceedings, it should be required to provide its projections. Accordingly AEP's recommendation should not be adopted.

The Staff's proposal that each rate plan under R.C. 4928.141 must achieve each of the state policies articulated under R.C. 4928.02 (A) through (N) complements Am. Sub. S.B. 221 perfectly and should be adopted despite FirstEnergy's, AEP's and Duke's repeated arguments to the contrary. In this section FirstEnergy claimed that it is impossible to encourage the development and interconnection of distributed and small generators and to ensure against anti-competitive subsidies at the same time. Apparently, FirstEnergy believes that the interconnection of distributed and small generators creates a subsidy although it did not provide any explanation as to how that is nor provided any data to back that claim up. If small generators have the option to buythrough in the market as opposed to paying a standby charge, there is no subsidy because the utility will have no obligation to have capacity available.

_

⁴⁹ AEP Comments at 14.

⁵⁰ FE Comments at 21; Duke Comments at 25; AEP Comments at 14.

⁵¹ FE Comments at 21.

Even if hypothetically encouraging that kind of interconnection does create subsidies, that subsidy would help competition rather than threaten it because subsidies to small generators are more likely to disperse market power rather than subsidies to large players like FirstEnergy Services. Accordingly, FirstEnergy should be required to show how it is encouraging interconnection of small generators at the same time as it is proving that the distribution rates paid to FirstEnergy are not subsidizing its competitive affiliates who can threaten competition. FirstEnergy's argument about the state policies 4928.02(A) through (N) as being unachievable through a 4928.141 plan should be rejected. It is not for FirstEnergy to decide which laws it will comply with. Noncompliance with state policy is not an option.

AEP argued that "the Commission should strictly adhere to the governing statute and avoid adding substantive conditions already considered and rejected by the General Assembly." ⁵² The General Assembly did not reject that standard. Rather they provided the Commission with an ambiguous standard "more favorable in the aggregate" and provided the Commission with policies under R.C. 4928.02 (A) through (N). The Staff simply relied upon the policies to define favorable, which appropriately reflects the intent of the General Assembly.

Duke claimed that a just and reasonable standard is sufficient but it is not. The General Assembly established a very specific set of policies that the utilities should be required to meet in their plans in order to provide a just and reasonable outcome under Ohio law. The utilities recommendations to the contrary should not be adopted.

-

⁵² AEP Comments at 14.

DP&L argued that Appendix B should be revised to release the utilities' obligations to address governmental aggregation. ⁵³ In its comments, DP&L raises two issues relating to the encouragement of governmental aggregation in Am. Sub. S.B. 221. Neither of these issues have merit.

DP&L's first argued "the State's encouragement of government aggregation undermines the objective of providing and maintaining certainty for utilities (and customers) during the ESP period" and "creates a risk environment for Ohio utilities unique to the industry." These assertions by DPL are misplaced and without merit for several reasons.

One, OCEA notes that the General Assembly and the Governor are responsible for setting state policy in relation to the structure of electric markets. They have determined it to be in the best interests of consumers to not only continue governmental aggregation as it exists in Ohio but to actively seek its promotion. Therefore, attempting to undermine that objective through the rule-making process is inappropriate.

Two, DP&L's concern over governmental aggregation exposing utilities to unnecessary risk is belied by the very definition of an ESP. An ESP should provide generation costs below market prices. If an ESP generation price is properly set and is below market price, the risk of a governmental aggregation taking large numbers of customers out of SSO generation service is unlikely. Even if governmental aggregation transitions customers from SSO supply, the utility would have the opportunity to sell the excess electricity at market rates, which should be higher than the ESP price offered in the SSO. Accordingly, governmental aggregation provides little financial risk to utilities.

-

⁵³ DP&L Comments at 4.

Three, it appears that the legislature anticipated that governmental aggregation could provide an additional check on a utility's SSO pricing structure to ensure that consumers obtain the lowest generation costs possible. DP&L's opposition to governmental aggregation appears designed to remove that effective check on its forward SSO pricing and inhibit future competition.

DP&L's second suggestion is that the rules "should require that the government aggregator obtain customer authorization either through a ballot process or otherwise, before the aggregator can place the future market price risk on customers." Governmental aggregators, like NOAC and NOPEC, have already secured voter permission to operate opt-out programs. Nothing in Am. Sub. S.B. 221 requires the redundancy of another "ballot process." Moreover, the opt-out process itself, and the Staff proposed requirement to inform consumers of the governmental aggregator's election not to receive stand-by service, provide each citizen the information necessary to decide whether to remain with SSO generation supply or go with the governmental aggregation.

For these reasons, the Commission should not amend Appendix B as proposed by DP&L.

2. **Specific Information**

FirstEnergy and AEP argued that utilities should not be required to "offset" costs of fuel or costs of emission allowances by the gains of the sale of ratepayer funded fuel and emission allowances under Section (A)(2) because R.C. 4928.143(B)(2)(a) does not require it.⁵⁴ These utilities demonstrate through this argument their utter lack of a sense

⁵⁴ FirstEnergy Comments at 21; AEP Comments at 15.

of fairness to ratepayers and reveals the necessity of the Commission's supervision over pricing. As fuel costs rise and customers are increasingly challenged when it comes to paying their bills, there is a moral imperative that utilities act as good corporate citizens and do the right thing.

Additionally, the utilities' argument that R.C. 4928.143(B)(2)(a) does not permit credits or offsets fails to recognize that any costs permitted under this provision must be found to be prudently incurred. Commission practice under the EFC cases has held that costs of fuel and purchased power that are recovered from EFC customers are not prudently incurred if they are not offset by credits and revenue the utility gains through fuel and purchased power.⁵⁵ Accordingly, the Staff's proposed rule is necessary to prevent the utility from collecting imprudent costs from its customers.

AEP commented that because the fuel cost recovery is an automatic recovery mechanism, it should allow for the pass through of any amounts the utilities claim they spent. ⁵⁶ This is absurd in light of the fact that the utilities must prove that the amounts they spent are prudent and that the EFC rule that traditionally required credits and offsets from fuel costs was also referred to as an automatic recovery mechanism. Precedent has value and should be adapted to current realities.

FirstEnergy again argued that under Section (A)(5) it should not be required to provide "any and all documents prepared by the electric utility for the application."

_

⁵⁵ See *In re Duke Energy Ohio, Inc*, 07-723-EL-UNC, Finding and Order (June 27, 2007); *In re Ohio Power Company*, Case Nos. 98-101-EL-EFC and 98-102-EL-EFC, Opinion and Order (May 26, 1999).

⁵⁶ AEP Comments at 15.

FirstEnergy comparison of the ESP filing requirements to the base rate case filing requirements⁵⁷ is not valid.

The statutory requirements as set forth under R.C. 4909.18 et. al. are explicit and the Commission's experience with base rate case filings is extensive. The statutory requirements as set forth under R.C. 4928.143 are broad. Because the ESP process is new, all relevant data is needed in order to understand the nature of the requests. Given that the utilities have filed plans that call for unprecedented massive increases, which if adopted will create significant burdens on customers, it is imperative that the Staff and intervenors have the opportunity to review the underlying workpapers. Otherwise, the parties are left to assume that there is no clear basis and that the increases requested were pulled from thin air. For these reasons, the filing requirements should be extensive so that the Commission has an opportunity to see how the utilities formulate the proposals they make and so that the Commission, Staff and intervenors can gain experience with the filings.

Duke suggested that the Commission add a paragraph 5 to Section (B) so that utilities can impose unavoidable surcharges not only on new construction but also on existing assets.⁵⁸ The suggestion is contrary to R.C. 4928.143(B)(2)(b) and (c), which allows the surcharge for only new construction and environmental expenditure of generation resources "provided the cost is incurred or the expenditure occurs on or after January 1, 2009." Accordingly, the Commission should reject Duke's suggestion. Moreover, allowing non-bypassable charges associated with existing generation would have an anti-competitive impact and would be contrary to State policy.

⁵⁷ FE Comments at 22.

⁵⁸ Duke Comments at 26.

IEU recommended that (B)(4) be clarified to reflect that recovery of the actual costs of a generation facility is limited to only those that are used and useful and those whose capacity and energy are dedicated to Ohio.⁵⁹ This clarification in the rule is helpful. And OCEA fully concurs.

IEU also suggested that (B)(1), which states that an integrated resource plan is necessary to demonstrate that the proposed facility is needed to serve Ohio, should identify the information needed to obtain approval of an integrated resource plan.

Unquestionably this will be needed before an application can be made under this provision. The Commission can meet this need by adopting rules similar to those already adopted but repealed under S.B. 3 and incorporating them into these rules.

Contrary to FirstEnergy's and AEP's complaints, ⁶⁰ Section (C)(1)'s "listing of all components of the ESP which would have the effect of preventing, limiting, inhibiting, or incentivizing customer shopping for retail electric generation service" is an important exercise for both the utilities and the Commission in understanding competition. Oddly, FirstEnergy perceives that this provision is contrary to the R.C. 4928.143(C)(1) requirement that the ESP be approved if it is "more favorable in the aggregate than the market rate offer." ⁶¹ Apparently, FirstEnergy perceives that "more favorable" relates only to rates rather than to other considerations, such as the medium and long-term impact of expanded energy efficiency programs and a large renewable energy portfolio, both of which contribute to price stability over time.

⁵⁹ IEU Comments at 11.

⁶⁰ FirstEnergy Comments at 22; AEP Comments at 15-16.

⁶¹ FE Comments at 22.

The Staff proposed Section (D) rules requires utilities asking for automatic increases under R.C. 4928. 143(B)(2)(f) to provide a means of verifying the reasonableness of the charge. AEP complained that this should not be necessary because the increases are meant to be automatic. However, the Commission must determine whether the ESP plan is "more favorable in the aggregate" and the Commission cannot determine if a plan is "more favorable" if it does not determine whether the automatic increases expected under the plan will be prudent and reasonable. Moreover, the utility has the burden of proof in the ESP proceeding and therefore cannot show that the ESP is favorable if it does not show that automatic increases are reasonable. The provision should remain in the rules.

OEG recommended that section (F) in Specific Filing Requirements of Appendix B clarify that all transmission—related costs that a utility attempts to recover through the ESP should be "net of transmission revenues." Such an addition is helpful and should be adopted.

FirstEnergy appears to perceive that the Commission is requesting it to file with its ESP all the specifics listed under (G) (1) through (5) for any "infrastructure maintenance plan" it may propose in the future, rather than any it will propose in its ESP filing.⁶³ In order to clarify the rule it should read:

While a number of mechanisms may be combined within a plan, for each specific mechanism or program PROPOSED IN THE ESP, the electric utility must provide a narrative explanation and information to allow appropriate evaluation of the proposal.

.

⁶² OEG Comments at 6.

⁶³ FE Comments at 23.

With that clarification, it should be clear to utilities that for each infrastructure maintenance plan proposed in each ESP, the specifics listed under (G)(1) through (5) should be included.

AEP claimed that the Staff's rule includes a "laundry list" of filing requirements for each alternative regulation mechanism relating to distribution service that is proposed in the ESP plan and argued that many of the filing requirements might not be applicable to certain mechanisms. However, because the Commission must determine if a plan is "more favorable in the aggregate" the Commission must review all benefits and all costs associated with each of the mechanisms in order to determine if the plan is "more favorable than the aggregate." Accordingly, all the requirements under (G) will be necessary for the appropriate review and should not be limited to only certain mechanisms.

OEG recommended that all breakdowns of capital costs and operating and maintenance expenses as required Under (G)(3) should be reported as "net of any related savings." This language should ensure that only costs that do not benefit the utility would be recovered and should be adopted.

The Staff's proposed infrastructure maintenance plan requirements (G)(1) through (5) are a good start and should be retained. If the Commission finds that other items are necessary or that some of the items listed are not, the Commission can revise the rule after it gains experience with it.

AEP argues that the Commission should not require cost-benefits analysis of programs that are required. Such cost-benefit analysis should be required to assist the

⁶⁴ AEP Comments at 17.

⁶⁵ OEG Comments at 6.

Commission in determining whether the programs are appropriately designed and will result in net benefits to customers who must pay for these investments.

3. Additional Required Information

FirstEnergy's, DP&L's, Duke's and AEP's complaints that Section (A) requires utilities to provide information "functionalized as to distribution, transmission and generation activities" ⁶⁶ for the purpose of determining whether utilities have excessive earnings is misplaced. The rule should require that the information must be provided, not to determine which of the activities are earning excessively, but to compare the utilities relative risk to other publicly traded companies as is required under R.C. 4928.143(E) and (F). Although Duke⁶⁷ claims that the functionalized amounts are not publicly available for other publicly traded companies, that does not mean that such functionalized amounts will not assist the Commission in making comparisons to similarly situated companies that provide only one of the functions, such as generation companies and fully divested distribution companies. Accordingly, the functionalized requirements of the rule should be retained.

OEG requested that the Commission provide more specificity as to what kind of income statement information and balance sheet information must be filed by the utility under (A)(1) and (2).⁶⁸ OEG pointed out that the Commission cannot meet its requirements to conduct earnings reviews without at least as much detail as is provided in a FERC Form 1. OEG also noted that providing that information would not be

35

⁶⁶ FE Comments at 24; DP&L Comments at 6; Duke Comments at 27; AEP Comments at 18.

⁶⁷ Duke Comments at 28-29.

⁶⁸ OEG Comments at 6.

burdensome and appropriately recommended additional language, which should be adopted.

FirstEnergy suggested that the Commission also remove the requirement under Section (B) that it provide specific testimony and analysis demonstrating the return on equity that was earned during the same period by publicly traded companies. FirstEnergy stated that it is up to the utility to determine what evidence it will need to provide to meet its burden of proof.⁶⁹ But the Commission will be the entity who determines whether the burden is met. Setting out the evidentiary requirements ensures that the necessary information is before the Commission. Put another way, it is appropriate for the Commission to warn utilities before such filings that they will not be able to meet the burden of proof without testimony and analysis. For that reason, the provisions should not be removed.

F. Service of Application – 4901:1-35-04 (Rule 4)

FirstEnergy complained that the use of the adjective "proposed" to describe filings in Rule 4(A) is inappropriate because the rule as written would require utilities to provide notice of proposed filings rather than just actual filings. OCEA agrees and suggests that the Rule 4(A) be revised to require:

Concurrent with the filing of a standard service offer (SSO) application and the filing of any waiver requests, the electric utility shall provide notice of its proposed filing APPLICATION to each party in its most recent SSO or, if this is its first SSO filing, then its last rate plan proceeding.

-

⁶⁹ FE Comments at 25.

FirstEnergy argued that requiring a utility to provide paper copies of their applications without cost is unnecessary, wasteful and burdensome. Rather than being required to provide paper copies of their application, FirstEnergy requested that the rule clarify that utility need only provide electronic copies. Utilities should be required to provide copies of their rate applications to anyone who will be required to pay their rates. Some individuals do not have computer expertise and some do not have access to computers. Publicly available computers at the libraries are busy and sometimes difficult to access. For those reasons, if an individual who will be required to pay the rates under the application tells the utility that he or she does not know how or cannot access the application in an electronic version, the utility should be required to provide a paper copy or at least a summary of the application that includes all the components of the application, the associated rates of the components or the means whereby the rate components will be calculated. It should also include any tariff changes that would be made based upon the application. Accordingly, Rule 4(B) should be revised to state:

The electric utility shall provide electronic copies of the application upon request, without cost and within a reasonable period of time. IF A CUSTOMER OF AN ELECTRIC UTILITY REQUESTS FOR A COPY OF THE APPLICATION AND THE CUSTOMER TELLS THE ELECTRIC UTILITY THAT HE OR SHE CANNOT ACCESS AN ELECTRONIC COPY OF THE APPLICATION, THE ELECTRIC UTILITY SHALL PROVIDE A PAPER SUMMARY OF THE APPLICATION THAT INCLUDES A DESCRIPTION OF ALL THE COMPONENTS OF THE APPLICATION, THE CHARGES ASSOCIATED WITH EACH COMPONENT AND ALL TARIFF CHANGES PROPOSED IN THE APPLICATION. IF AFTER THE SUMMARY, THE CUSTOMER CONTINUES TO REQUEST THE APPLICATION, THE ELECTRIC UTILITY MUST PROVIDE A PAPER COPY OF THE APPLICATION.

⁷⁰ FE Comments at 10.

G. Hearings 4901:1-35-06 (Rule 6)

FirstEnergy and AEP insisted that Am. Sub. S.B. 221 was quite specific as to the standard of review for either MRO or ESP applications.⁷¹ FirstEnergy, Duke and AEP claimed to believe that the General Assembly did not provide discretion to the Commission that would allow the Commission to adopt Rule 6(A), which establishes the standard of review as "just and reasonable" and "achieve the policy of the state as delineated in divisions (A) to (N) of section 4928.02 of the Revised Code." Rather they argued that the Commission can only repeat the standards in the law. The utilities are wrong.

The standard of review as to whether the Commission should adopt an ESP under R.C. 4928.143(C) states:

Subject to division (D) of this section, the commission by order shall approve or modify and approve an application filed under division (A) of this section if it finds that the electric security plan so approved, including its pricing **and all other terms and conditions**, including any deferrals and any future recovery of deferrals, is more favorable in the aggregate as compared to the expected results that would otherwise apply under section 4928.142 of the Revised Code (emphasis added).

FirstEnergy and AEP quoted the phrase "is more favorable in the aggregate as compared to the expected results that would otherwise apply under section 4928.142 of the Revised Code." FirstEnergy's characterized that standard as specific. AEP implied that the standard is specific. ⁷³ Again, the utilities are wrong.

⁷¹ FE Comments at 11; AEP Comments at 5.

⁷² FE Comments at 11; Duke Comments at 9-10; AEP Comments at 5.

⁷³ AEP Comments at 6-7.

The descriptive phrase "more favorable in the aggregate" is not specific. "More favorable" must be defined and the only guidance the General Assembly gave to define that term is the state policies under R.C. 4928.02(A) through (N). More favorable in the aggregate means meeting those policies in the least-cost manner. As the pertinent part of the statute clearly states above, the determination of "more favorable" includes "all other terms and conditions." The Staff's proposed rule was a logical and even necessary, given the statutes. The "just and reasonable" standard included in Rule 6(A) is also logical because it is the standard included in the first policy identified by Am. Sub. S.B. 221 under R.C. 4928.02:

Ensure the availability to consumers of adequate, reliable, safe, efficient, nondiscriminatory, and reasonably priced retail electric service.

FirstEnergy also incorrectly stated that the standard of review for an MRO application is simply whether it meets requirements under 4928.142(A)(1) and (C)(1). First, because part of the requirements under R.C. 4928.142(C) is that the market-rate offer meets "all of the foregoing requirements" the market-rate offer filing must meet requirements established through Commission rules under R.C. 4928.142(A)(2). Also, because all utilities must make an ESP filing initially under R.C. 4928.141(A), the Commission must compare the ESP to any MRO application made in the first applications. Therefore, an MRO application that meets the requirements of 4928.142(A) and (C) must also, in the aggregate, be just as favorable or more favorable than an ESP that conforms to the requirements of R.C. 4928.143 and the rules established by the Commission under R.C. 4928.143(C). And because of that necessary comparison, the

Staff's adoption of the state policies under R.C. 4928.02 as a definition of what favorable means appropriately applies.

FirstEnergy also complained that the state policies under R.C. 4928.02(A) through (N) are conflicting and that electric utilities should not be required to "achieve" those goals as required under Rule 6(A). Instead FirstEnergy would prefer that utilities only need to meet a standard that the plans are "generally consistent with" the goals of R.C. 4928.02.

The goals under R.C. 4928.02(A) through (N) are not conflicting. The goals promote reasonable prices, competitive markets, customer choice, diverse supplies to meet customer needs, quality distribution and transmission service, nondiscriminatory use of the distribution and transmission systems, flexible regulatory treatment, the avoidance of anti-competitive subsidies, customer protection and protection of at risk populations, distributed generation, education of small business owners on energy efficiency, facilitating the state's competitiveness in the global economy, and incentives for technologies that adapt successfully to environmental compliance. While any of those policies taken to an extreme can undermine other policies, an ESP or MRO should achieve each of those goals. To state that a plan is "generally consistent" with those goals is not sufficient direction. Each utility should propose a well-balanced plan that includes at least one or more than one meaningful program that is intended to achieve each of those goals in a well-balanced manner. Therefore, the rule should not be revised.

FirstEnergy also complained about the first sentence in Rule 6(A), which provides that the Commission will set an application for hearing after the application conforms to the commission rules. FirstEnergy insisted that if the utility files an application early

enough the Commission must set an application for an SSO for hearing before the rules are established.⁷⁴ FirstEnergy argues that because the Commission must decide upon an ESP application within 150 days after it is filed under R.C. 4928.143(C)(1) and an MRO application within 90 days after it is filed under R.C. 4928.142(B)(3), the Commission does not have the discretion to wait to hold a hearing on an application until after its rules for such hearings are established. FirstEnergy's interpretation is nonsensical.

Under R.C. 4928.141(B) the Commission has been authorized to "adopt rules regarding filings under those sections [R.C. 4928.142 and 4928.143]." If the General Assembly had intended the Commission to proceed to hearing before it completed the rules, the General Assembly would not have directed the Commission to adopt rules for the proceedings. Moreover, R.C. 4928.142(B) and R.C. 4928.143(A) allows the utility to file before the effective date of the rules but in both cases, a utility is required to "immediately" conform their "filing" to the rules when the rules are completed. If the General Assembly had intended the Commission to take a filing to hearing before the rules are finalized, the General Assembly would not have stated that the utility is required to "immediately" conform its "plan" to the final rules.

Moreover, if a utility files an application under R.C. 4928.142 before the Commission completes the rulemaking process under R.C. 4928.142(A)(2), the Commission could simply reject the application within the 90 days as not meeting "the foregoing requirements," and explain to the applicant that they need to comply with the rules when established to be in compliance with the law.

The Commission must either modify and approve or approve an application under R.C. 4928.143, within 150 days of the filing. As long as the Commission adopts the rules

-

⁷⁴ FE Comments at 12.

within those 150 days, the Commission can modify the plan based upon the rules it completes under R.C. 4928.143(A) by issuing an order under that division stating it approves the filing but modifies it based on the rules it adopted. For the reasons stated above, the Commission should not revise Rule 6(A) as the utilities have suggested and should require the filing of an application that conforms to the Commission rules before the Commission sets the application for hearing.

OEG and Nucor recommended that the hearing that addresses a standard service offer should allow for reasonable discovery and the submission of intervenor testimony and suggested additional language for Rule 6(A).⁷⁵ This language is necessary to ensure due process.

H. Discoverable Agreements—4901:1-35-07 (Rule 7)

Duke argues that as long as the utility does not know that its affiliate has a contract with a party to the proceeding, a consumer, an electric service company or political subdivision it should not be required to provide such an agreement to other parties in the proceeding. This suggestion is ridiculous, especially when the utility, its affiliates and its parent company share so many employees, including legal counsel. It would be impossible for the utility to prove that it did not know that its affiliate has a contract with a party to the proceeding.

Any electric utility providing a standard service offer in an electric proceeding should be required to know if its affiliates have a contract with a party to the proceeding. That knowledge is necessary especially if part of the agreement between the affiliate and the party to the proceeding has an affect on what the party does within the proceeding. If

.

⁷⁵ OEG Comments at 2; Nucor Comments at 7.

⁷⁶ Duke Comments at 11.

electric utilities and their affiliates undermine regulatory plans as Duke suggests in this rule revision, electric utilities should not be permitted to have any affiliates.

Nucor requested that agreements between the utility and another utility or supplier of generation and agreements between the utility's affiliates and another utility or supplier of generation should also be discoverable. Granting this request is reasonable and important because utilities and their affiliates could use other suppliers as go betweens to allow transactions that would otherwise not be permitted. Such allegations have been made before the Commission and the evidence indicated that such arrangements are possible and would be very difficult to prove. For this reason, the Commission should incorporate Nucor's suggested revision. To do less would be inconsistent with the extensive legislative discussions on transparency.

I. Competitive bidding process requirements and use of independent third party—4901:1-35-08 (Rule 8)

It is not surprising that the theme of the comments submitted by the utilities, namely Duke, AEP, and FirstEnergy, emphasize the need for flexibility with respect to the implementation of any Competitive Bidding Process (CBP). Their comments are designed to provide the utilities more discretion and control of the CBP with less regulatory oversight. In general, the OCEA opposes any changes to the proposed rule that would diminish the Commission's oversight and ability to implement the CBP. This is particularly true when reviewing compliance with the least-cost portfolio management approach OCEA recommends. The statute does not mandate full requirements bid for the entire load or for tranches. Relying on such approaches has resulted in increases in

43

⁷⁷ Nucor Comments at 7.

⁷⁸ *Dominion East Ohio*, 03-219-EL-EFC, Trial Transcript.

generation supply prices and high profits for the owners of those generating resources in other states. Ohio should learn from the errors committed in the other laboratories of democracy. Just because a state and the consultants involved in the process chose a particular approach to the auction or request for proposal ("RFP") coupled with a simplistic product is no reason to assume that there are not better options such as the integrated portfolio approach recommended by OCEA.

Generation, efficiency, and demand response all represent multi-year investments in the elements of electric service. Annual bidding for full requirements power does not represent accurately the investments necessary to provide that service. If the products and the revenues earned with those products do not match up with the nature of utility financing, then there will be little investment in new generation and existing plants will retain their oligopoly status. The bidding process should be used to correct the flaws in the current iteration of wholesale electricity markets.

While OCEA agrees that some degree of discretion should be permitted under the regulations, the nature of that flexibility may differ from what is proposed by the utilities. The Commission and the utilities may well put forward different approaches to a CBP depending on the type of contract or other portfolio service that is approved as part of a proposed MRO or ESP. However, once the specific contract or product that is to be acquired is approved as part of the overall MRO or ESP portfolio, the implementation of the CBP to obtain that product or contract should be highly supervised by the Commission.

The utility comments fail to reflect the central proposition of OCEA's initial comments, namely that the products and services that need to be acquired to provide

Standard Service, whether implemented by means of an MRO or ESP, will vary according to the procurement plan approved by the Commission and implemented by the electric distribution utility. OCEA opposes the notion that there will be a single CBP approved to purchase the entire Standard Service Offer or that the same type of contract should be relied upon for this Service even if purchased at different times. Therefore, the regulations must contemplate that a variety of appropriate CBP approaches could be proposed and relied upon to purchase different contract types and resource acquisitions for the entire portfolio.

Duke suggested that the independent third party should not design the competitive bidding process and Duke wants flexibility in the design of the bid.⁷⁹ But R.C. 4928.142(A)(1)(a-c) does not permit such flexibility. OCEA is particularly concerned about the comments filed by Duke, which appear to suggest that an individual customer could choose a CRES provider directly from the winners at the bid price.⁸⁰ This is a strange suggestion. A bidder should not sell to an individual customer for the same price as the winning bid because the administrative costs of providing to an individual customer as opposed to a tranche are so much higher. Accordingly, the independent third party should design a standard competitive bid that assures that the bidding process avoids anti-competitive and discriminatory rates.

Any CBP operated by the utility to provide Standard Service to its customers will be conducted for the purpose of serving a particular customer class, a slice of the utility's load obligation, or perhaps a region. It is not at all clear how any individual customer would be able to interact with a winning bidder for this type of acquisition since an

⁷⁹ Duke Comments at 13.

⁸⁰ Duke Comments at 14.

individual customer's load, load shape, and generation supply needs would naturally vary from that bid specifications for a larger or homogenous group of customers.

Any changes to the regulations designed to permit such a specicious suggestion should be rejected. Specifically, Duke's proposal that the design of the bid should be the responsibility of the utility and not the third party administrator should be rejected. Duke has sufficient bias with regard to the outcome of the bid and its competitive standing so that Duke's concerns should be no more influential than any other generation providers to the design of the competitive bid. The independent third party should be responsible to the Commission, which should prevent such outcomes as allowing a bidder to undercut competition by selling below cost as a CRES provider.

Additionally, Duke's approach fails to contemplate that the product or service that is being acquired will be approved as part of the MRO or ESP proposal by the utility. The design of the bid specifications should be prepared by a qualified third party administrator as part of the requirements in administering the bid process. Any third party administrator retained to conduct the bid process should be able to design the detailed bid specifications based on the approved portfolio and obtain the necessary information from the utility to properly reflect the approved plan.

FirstEnergy expressed concerns about the Commission making changes to the CBP after the plan is approved.⁸¹ OCEA suggests that any such changes should be publicly noticed by the Commission and due process rights provided to all affected parties. OCEA agrees that last minute changes by the Commission would not be appropriate in most cases and should be avoided. FirstEnergy expressed concerns that parties to the hearing will complain that their due process rights have been offended and

⁸¹ FirstEnergy Comments at 13.

will challenge the validity of the process. Of particular concern should be modifications or additions made by the independent third party to the CBP after the hearing.

Under Rule 8(A), the competitive bidding process must be filed as part of its MRO. However, the rule is somewhat unclear as to the role of the independent third party during the MRO hearing. In Appendix A (B)(12) the rule requires the utility to include in its plan:

Funding for a consultant⁸² that may be selected by the commission to assess and report to the commission on the design of the solicitation, the oversight of the bidding process, the clarity of the product definition, the fairness, openness, and transparency of the solicitation and bidding process, the market factors that could affect the solicitation, and other relevant criteria as directed by the commission.

Neither the Appendix nor Rule 8 seems to have a role for the independent third party during the hearing on the MRO. But to avoid problems of post-hearing modifications or additions to the CBP process, perhaps the Commission should engage the third party consultant to offer testimony at the hearing on the CBP process so that there can be no due process complaints after the hearing is completed. In that way, the Commission and the Staff, along with interested parties will have an opportunity to address their concerns regarding the CBP process and make recommendations to the independent third party about the CBP. Accordingly Rule 8(A) should be revised to state:

The electric utility shall use an independent third party SELECTED BY THE COMMISSION to design an open, fair and transparent bid solicitation, to administer the bidding process; and to oversee the entire procedure to assure that the CBP complies with the CBP plan. THE INDEPENDENT THIRD PARTY SHALL PRESENT THE DESIGN OF THE COMPETITIVE BID SOLICITATION IN TESTIMONY DURING THE MRO

-

⁸² If the Commission intends this "consultant" to be the same person as the independent third party proposed in Rule 8(A), the Commission should change the term "consultant" above to "independent third party" in Appendix A to clarify that they are the same.

HEARING AND WILL BE SUBJECT TO CROSS-EXAMINATION. THE DESIGN OF THE COMPETITIVE BID SOLICITATION SHALL BE A SUBJECT ADDRESSED BY THE COMMISSION IN ITS DECISION REGARDING THE MRO APPLICATION. The independent third party shall be accountable to the commission for all design, process, and oversight decisions BEYOND THOSE ALREADY DETERMINED THROUGH THE HEARING PROCESS. Any modifications or additions to the CBP made by the independent third party shall be FILED WITH THE COMMISSION submitted to staff prior to implementation. NO ADDITIONS WILL BE MADE TO THE CBP THAT WILL SUBSTANTIALLY CHANGE THE CBP PROCESS ALREADY APPROVED BY THE COMMISSION. WITH REGARD TO SUCH ADDITIONS. the independent third party shall-MAY PROPOSE TO incorporate into the solicitation, THE INDEPENDENT THIRD PARTY WILL ADJUST THE ADDITIONS WITH such measures as the Commission or its staff may prescribe, and shall incorporate into the bidding process any direction the Commission may provide THAT WILL NOT SUBSTANTIALLY CHANGE THE CBP PROCESS ALREADY APPROVED BY THE COMMISSION.

IEU suggested that Rule 8(A) should include a process whereby the Staff or the Commission will make public any prescription of particular CBP measures it communicates to the independent third party. 83 This kind of a formal process would increase trust and transparency in the process and may be instrumental in attracting more bidders and should be incorporated accordingly:

ANY MEASURES THE STAFF OR THE COMMISSION PRESCRIBE TO THE INDEPENDENT THIRD PARTY TO BE INCORPORATED INTO THE BIDDING PROCESS SHALL BE IDENTIFIED IN THE COMMISSION'S ORDER APPROVING THE MRO OR SHALL BE IDENTIFIED IN A SUBSEQUENT ENTRY.

Nucor recommended that two changes be made to Rule 8(B): that the independent third party's report be made available to interested parties and that the independent third party report on whether he or she observed any market manipulation or anticompetitive

⁸³ IEU Comments at 8.

behavior during the CBP. 84 Both changes would increase trust and ultimately effectiveness in the process and therefore should be adopted.

FirstEnergy does not want the independent third party to discuss in its report "any aspects of the process that *could have* adversely affected the outcome" (emphasis added) as required under this proposed rule. Rather, FirstEnergy argued that the rule should require the independent third party to address only those aspects of the process that did *in fact* have an adverse affect on the outcome of the bid.⁸⁵

It is highly unlikely that the third party will have the capacity or resources to make a factual determination that the bid process was in fact adversely impacted by events or market power, the details of which are likely to not be easily detected in the time frames contemplated by the rule. The rule should not be changed so that intervenors can make the full range of comments and observations that he or she has observed or has concerns about. Moreover, such a suggestion places a burden of proof on the independent third party that is not appropriate. It is near impossible to prove "what might have been but for".

The competitive bid process is a relatively new method of purchasing generation supplies in Ohio and it is not always possible to know *for a fact* every aspect of a process that did have an effect on the outcome. For those reasons, it is important to have the independent third party discuss "any aspects of the process that could have adversely affected the outcome." Such discussion will aid the Commission in reviewing future competitive bid processes and are likely to lead to progressively better outcomes. For that reason, Rule 8(B)(1) should not be revised.

-

⁸⁴ Nucor Comments at 9.

⁸⁵ FE Comments at 13.

The Staff proposed rule 8(B)(7) requires the independent third party to include in its report after the bidding process:

A listing of the retail rates that would result from the least cost winning bids, along with any descriptions, formulas, and/or tables necessary to demonstrate how the conversion from winning bid(s) to retail rates was accomplished.

FirstEnergy prefers that the Commission not see the retail rate until after the Commission approves the winning bids.⁸⁶

Although FirstEnergy may consider the calculation of the retail rate to be mechanical, the retail rate calculation will likely involve some assumptions and judgment calls so utilities should be required to file testimony on it in the MRO proceeding. All interested parties should have an opportunity to review it and cross-examine a witnesses regarding the process. In the past, utilities have sought to use legacy cost-of-service studies to establish rates. Additionally the method of calculating the retail rates should also be carefully checked. The independent third party should also have an opportunity to comment on it in testimony. Finally, the independent third party should formalize its approval of the retail rate and the method of calculating the retail rate in the report to the Commission. Therefore, Rule 8(B)(7) should not be revised as FirstEnergy suggested.

The rule is somewhat unclear about how the retail rate shall be set but OEG made some logical recommendations in its comments.⁸⁷ OEG suggested that first, the utility provide a description of its proposed methodology for converting the winning bids into retail rates in its CBP plan. This should be supported with testimony and should be subject to cross examination. Second, if the Commission approves the CBP plan, the

.

⁸⁶ FE Comments at 14.

⁸⁷ OEG Comments at 3.

independent third party uses the Commission-approved methodology to convert the winning bids into retail rates. Third, the Commission should select the least-cost bids and sets the retail rates in an issued decision.

J. ESP Rule and Purchased Power Adjustments—Rule 4901:1-35-09 (Rule 9)

AEP and IEU both suggested that Rule 9(B) clarify a time period by which the Staff will have to raise issues concerning the quarterly adjustment filing before the quarterly adjustment becomes effective. AEP suggested that the quarterly adjustment be filed at least 21 days before it is to be effective. HEU suggested 30 days. The Staff and other interested parties should have at least 30 days to review the quarterly filing and customers should have time to prepare themselves for changes in the rates. In addition interested parties should have the opportunity to file comments before that 30 day period, in case an interested party notices something wrong or has a concern. In fact, more than 30 days would be beneficial so that interested parties have the time to review the filing and file comments.

AREO requested that an additional paragraph be attached to Rule 9 as Rule 9(E) that paragraph reads:

NO CHARGE OR ADJUSTMENT RIDER FOR FUEL OR PURCHASED POWER SHALL BE ASSESSED AGAINST A CUSTOMER WHO RECEIVES ELECTRIC GENERATION FROM A COMPETITIVE RETAIL ELECTRIC SUPPLIER OR A GOVERNMENTAL AGGREGATION PROGRAM. IF A FUEL OR PURCHASED POWER CHARGE IS DEFERRED SO THAT STANDARD SERVICE CUSTOMERS RECEIVE THE VALUE OF THE FUEL OR PURCHASED POWER BUT THE COST FOR SUCH FUEL OR PURCHASED POWER IS COLLECTED AT A SUBSEQUENT TIME, CUSTOMERS WHO

⁸⁸ AEP Comments at 9.

⁸⁹ IEU Comments at 8.

RECEIVE ELECTRIC GENERATION DURING THE PERIOD OF THE DEFERRAL WILL GET A CREDIT AGAINST THEIR ELECTRIC UTILITY CHARGES IN THE AMOUNT PER KWH OF THE FUEL AND PURCHASED POWER DEFERRAL PER KWH. WHEN THE DEFERRAL OF THE FUEL AND PURCHASED POWER AMOUNTS ARE COLLECTED THEY MAY BE ASSESSED AGAINST ALL CUSTOMERS INCLUDING THOSE TAKING ELECTRIC GENERATION FROM COMPETITIVE RETAIL ELECTRIC GENERATION FROM COMPETITIVE RETAIL ELECTRIC SUPPLIERS AND GOVERNMENTAL AGGREGATION PROGRAMS.

If understood correctly, this recommended addition is a practical solution to a complicated problem. But the rule should be further clarified to state:

NO CHARGE OR ADJUSTMENT RIDER FOR FUEL OR PURCHASED POWER SHALL BE ASSESSED AGAINST A CUSTOMER WHO RECEIVES ELECTRIC GENERATION FROM A COMPETITIVE RETAIL ELECTRIC SUPPLIER OR A GOVERNMENTAL AGGREGATION PROGRAM. IF A FUEL OR PURCHASED POWER CHARGE IS DEFERRED SO THAT STANDARD SERVICE CUSTOMERS RECEIVE THE VALUE OF THE FUEL OR PURCHASED POWER BUT THE COST FOR SUCH FUEL OR PURCHASED POWER IS COLLECTED AT A SUBSEQUENT TIME, CUSTOMERS WHO RECEIVE ELECTRIC GENERATION FROM A COMPETITIVE RETAIL ELECTRIC SUPPLIER OR **GOVERNMENTAL AGGREGATION PROGRAM DURING** THE PERIOD OF THE DEFERRAL WILL GET A CREDIT AGAINST THEIR ELECTRIC UTILITY CHARGES IN THE AMOUNT PER KWH OF THE FUEL AND PURCHASED POWER DEFERRAL PER KWH. WHEN THE DEFERRAL OF THE FUEL AND PURCHASED POWER AMOUNTS ARE COLLECTED THEY MAY BE ASSESSED AGAINST ALL CUSTOMERS INCLUDING THOSE TAKING ELECTRIC GENERATION FROM COMPETITIVE RETAIL ELECTRIC GENERATION FROM COMPETITIVE RETAIL ELECTRIC SUPPLIERS AND GOVERNMENTAL AGGREGATION PROGRAMS.

K. Annual Review of the ESP (Excessive Earnings Review)— Rule 4901:1-35-10 (Rule 10)

Nucor suggested language that will better ensure that the utility does not earn amounts significantly in excess of comparable companies. Nucor recommends that with the earnings filing the utility be required to show "that the ESP produced just and reasonable rates and will continue to do so." Because that language is consistent with R.C. 4928.02(A), the Commission should incorporate it into Rule 10(A).

FirstEnergy and AEP complained that the Staff did not actually use the adjective "significant" in front of the term "excessive earnings" to conform to the statutory language in its Rule 10(A). Rules are intended to flesh out or provide specificity to general terms provided by the statute. For this reason, the Staff should provide more specificity in the rule to clarify what "significantly in excess" means. Essentially the term significant means "having or expressing a meaning." Accordingly, the excess needs to be beyond chance or needs to be meaningful. The best way to test whether an excess is beyond chance or is meaningful is to test it for more than one year. The Commission should revise its rule to specify what period of time it will look at earnings to determine if they are in excess. Rule 10(A) is not the best provision to use for this purpose. Rather it would be preferable that Rule 10(C) include more specificity as to what "significantly in excess means."

-

⁹⁰ Nucor Comments at 10.

⁹¹ FE Comments at 15; AEP Comments at 9.

⁹² New World Dictionary, Second College Addition (1978) at 1325.

Nucor suggested language that will better ensure that the utility does not earn amounts significantly in excess of comparable companies. Nucor recommends that with the earnings filing the utility be required to show "that the ESP produced just and reasonable rates and will continue to do so." Because that language is consistent with R.C. 4928.02(A), the Commission should incorporate it into Rule 10(A).

OEG accurately stated that the rules cannot meet due process requirements unless a hearing is provided upon the finding that reasonable grounds exist to indicate that a utility did earn significant excess earnings. Accordingly Rule 10(C) should state:

Based upon the above filings, if the commission finds that there are reasonable grounds that such adjustments, in the aggregate, may have resulted in significant—excess earnings for the electric utility, THE ELECTRIC UTILITY EARNING MORE THAN COMPARABLE COMPANIES DURING THE PREVIOUS TWO YEARS, the Commission SHALLmay set the matter for hearing. IN ANY SUCH HEARING INTERVENORS SHALL HAVE REASONABLE DISCOVERY RIGHTS AND THE ABILITY TO FILE TESTIMONY. IF IT IS DETERMINED AFTER HEARING THAT EXCESS EARNINGS DURING THE ANNUAL PERIOD DID OCCUR, THEN THE EXCESS WILL BE RETURNED TO CONSUMERS BY PROSPECTIVE ADJUSTMENTS DETERMINED BY THE COMMISSION.

Nucor suggested that parties be given an opportunity to issue discovery in the utility's annual ESP review filing under Rule 10(B). This suggestion is sensible, given interested parties right to file comments in those cases and Nucor's suggested language should be adopted.

⁹⁴ OEG Comments at 3-4.

54

⁹³ Nucor Comments at 10.

⁹⁵ Nucor Comments at 10.

DP&L read R.C 4928.143(E) to limit the earnings tests to utilities with ESP plans longer than three years to only prospective tests that occur every four years. ⁹⁶ But R.C. 4928.143(F) does not state that annual retrospective earnings tests will not apply to utilities with ESP plans longer than three years if they include adjustments. Accordingly, DP&L's requested revisions to Rule 10 should not be granted.

IEU recommended that Rule 10 should provide for a hearing that will allow for the test of the prudence of purchases made, the opportunity for interested parties to participate, and a reconciliation adjustment to credit customers with imprudently incurred costs that have been recovered.⁹⁷ The Commission must provide for that opportunity to meet the requirements of R.C. 4928.143(B)(2)(a).

OEG also pointed out that if the utility must file their excess earnings filing on April 1, and parties only have 30 days to comment, parties would not have the benefit of the most recent FERC Form 1, filed at the end of April, for their comments. 98 OEG suggested a 60 day comment period instead of the 30 day comment period, which the Commission should adopt for the reason given by OEG.

Competitive Bidding Process Ongoing Review and Reporting L. **Requirements—4909:1-35-11 (Rule 11)**

Duke argued unreasonably that the Commission revise Staff's proposed Rule 11(B)(1) to require offsetting benefits accrued to the utility be "listed separately and be used to **increase** the cost levels requested for recovery. ⁹⁹ There is no justification that

⁹⁶ DP&L Comments at 2.

⁹⁷ IEU Comments at 9.

⁹⁸ OEG at 4.

⁹⁹ Duke Comments at 16.

benefits that accrue to the utility through customer funded resources should increase the recovery a utility get from customers. For this reason, Duke's suggested revision should not be adopted.

OEG noted that Rule 11(B), which allows for the prospective review of how proposed adjustments for costs for fuel, purchased power, portfolio requirements and environmental compliance will affect the utilities return on common equity, does not include a provision that the adjustments must be reduced if the return on common equity will be excessive. Such a provision is required under R.C. 4928.142(D)(4) and OEG's suggested language should be adopted to meet that requirement.

Duke and AEP complained that Rule 11(C)(4) requires utilities to provide certain information in its annual CBP report:

This information should be provided for generation, transmission and distribution for the electric utility and its affiliates as well as functionalized as to distribution, transmission, and generation activities. ¹⁰¹

Duke argued that its financial records do not contain the level of detail sufficient to enable it to functionalize various activities. ¹⁰² None of the other utilities seem to have a similar problem so it appears that it would not be a difficult problem to overcome.

Additionally, Duke complained that functionalization is directly at odds with the statute. But the statute requires the Commission to compare its earnings to that made by "other publicly traded companies." Each of these functions involves different levels and kinds of risk and it is necessary for the Commission to have the functionalized

¹⁰⁰ OEG Comments at 8.

¹⁰¹ Duke Comments at 20; AEP Comments 10.

¹⁰² Duke Comments at 18.

information for comparisons. Duke argues that because the functionalized information is not publicly available the Commission will not be able to use the functionalized information. This assessment is incorrect because there are many companies that engage in only one of the functionalized activities and such companies can provide an appropriate comparison.

AEP argued that 11(C)(4) should be removed because R.C. 4928.142 allows only for prospective earnings reviews and does not allow retrospective earnings reviews.¹⁰³ But the Commission cannot conduct a prospective earnings review that involves a comparison of the utilities earnings to comparable businesses if it does not have any idea as to what the utilities are currently earning.

AEP also complained that the requirement under 11(C)(4) should be removed because the utility does not have an obligation to show that it meets the earnings test. ¹⁰⁴ Under R.C. 4928.142(D)(4) the General Assembly required:

The burden of proof for demonstrating that significantly excessive earnings will not occur shall be on the electric distribution company.

Therefore, the utilities must show that they will not have excessive earnings in the future, which is a much more complicated showing than showing that they are not currently making excessive earnings. For that reason, an important and necessary step in making that projection is showing that they do not have excessive earnings currently. The Commission cannot possibly meet its obligations under R.C. 4928.142(D)(4) if it does

¹⁰³ AEP Comments at 11.

¹⁰⁴ AEP Comments at 11.

not have the information required under Rule 11(C)(4) and the Commission should not change it or remove it as suggested by the utilities.

OEG asked that the Commission incorporate language that will require the utility to return any excess earned as reflected in the annual report to the customers. Such a provision would provide equity and should be adopted.

DP&L complained that Rule 11(C)(5) allows utilities to file for relief of an emergency situation only at the time of its annual status report. DP&L claimed that waiting for the annual report may not be practical for granting appropriate relief. ¹⁰⁶
DP&L did not explain what situations could arise that would require such immediate relief. In any case, under the CBP plans, customers must wait for the annual review to obtain relief from any excess earnings the utilities may be collecting and the utilities that have an opportunity to choose or not choose a CBP plan, should also have to wait for the annual review for any relief that could be deemed necessary.

IEU requested that the Commission incorporate in Rule 11(C)(5) a requirement that the utility has the burden of proof to show that it needs relief due to an emergency situation to reflect R.C. 4928.142(D)(4).¹⁰⁷ Incorporating that language in the rule would be helpful for future reference.

Duke argued nonsensically that the Commission should not adopt the Staff's Rule 11(C)(8) requirement that utilities report in their annual CBP report whether the RTOs market monitoring function has mitigation authority over competitive whole electric

¹⁰⁵ OEG at 5.

¹⁰⁶ DP&L Comments at 4.

¹⁰⁷ IEU Comments at 9.

service market transactions.¹⁰⁸ The purpose of the report is to determine whether the wholesale market is being protected by a market monitor, because if it is, the Commission can expect competitive bids. If the market monitor is not protecting the wholesale market the Commission cannot expect competitive bids.

Duke complained that the Commission has no right to even use the market monitoring function over wholesale markets as a sign whether or not it can expect competitive bids. This is contrary to the direction given by the General Assembly under R.C. 4928.142(B)(2) that a CBP not be permitted if the market monitor is not able to mitigate market power or the electric distribution company's market conduct. For this reason, the Commission should not adopt Duke's revision.

AEP argued that Rule11(C)(8) should be eliminated because it serves no purpose after the MRO is first approved. This requirement will be necessary for the Commission to meet its obligations under R.C. 4928.142(E). The Commission is obliged to alter prospectively the proportions of the blended price "to mitigate any effect of an abrupt or significant change in the electric distribution utility's standard service offer price." In order to make a reasonable judgment when fulfilling this duty, the Commission must have information regarding how the markets are functioning and should be prepared to act quickly if they are failing due to a lack of effective market monitoring. Additionally, the Commission should be prepared to return to the legislature

1.0

¹⁰⁸ Duke Comments at 20.

¹⁰⁹ Duke Comments at 20.

¹¹⁰ AEP Comments at 12.

for a change in the law if markets are failing and rates are not "reasonably priced" as intended by the General Assembly.

Nucor requested that the Commission add language to Rule 11(D)(5) that explicitly states that interested parties can review the report, can conduct discovery on the annual report and can request a hearing on the CBP based upon the report and discovery responses. This would provide due process rights to the customers who must pay the CBP rates and the Commission should grant the request.

III. TRANSMISSION COST RECOVERY – CHAPTER 4901:1-36

Whenever customers are required to pay for costs for receiving electric service the costs must be determined in an open, fair, and transparent manner. This is also true for transmission costs. Even though transmission costs are determined through a FERC approval process the electric utility is still responsible for selecting the lowest cost options 112 and making every effort to assure that transmission costs are as low as possible. These efforts of electric utilities may take the form of participating in the RTO stakeholder process or litigating at FERC for example, the most advantageous allocation for Ohioans of transmission costs (postage stamp vs. license plate). In addition, portions of RTO rates are collected to support the formation of other product markets which may not be relevant to serving Ohio customers. Ohioans should only pay RTO costs that deliver value to them in the form of services necessary for the SSO. Utilities may have to pay more costs than they can pass through to SSO customers.

¹¹¹ Nucor Comments at 11.

¹¹² *Pike County Light and Power Company-Electric Div. v. Pennsylvania Public*, 77 Pa.Cmwlth. 268, 465 A.2d 735, Pa.Cmwlth. (September 22, 1983).

Before the PUCO, transmission costs must be subject to scrutiny by those who will pay the costs. In the case of residential consumers this means that all interested parties must have access to the same information as staff in order to evaluate the costs, be allowed to conduct discovery, and if the cost issues cannot be reconciled between all parties and the electric utility, evidentiary hearings should be held before the PUCO. Findings of fact and conclusions of law by the PUCO will permit appellate evaluation of the material factors relied upon by the PUCO to charge customers these costs.

OCEA proposed revisions to the transmission cost recovery rules to incorporate this open and transparent process that is designed to satisfy the due process requirements of imposing costs upon customers.

OCEA agrees with Duke that in evaluating transmission costs, the PUCO should be able to hire consultants to assist in the analysis. The revision proposed by Duke to OAC 4901:136-03(C) that such costs of consultants must be paid by the utilities and recovered through the transmission rider is redundant -- although OCEA agrees with the concept.

The rules as proposed by the PUCO deny parties the right to evaluate the request to recover transmission costs, a hearing when recovery is disputed, and basic other rights when costs are assessed against customers -- such as discovery. The electric utilities did not address these issues in any meaningful way, which itself should suggest they are satisfied with rules that eliminate due process rights and rely on the PUCO to determine proper recovery on its own. While the PUCO may be knowledgeable in such matters, OCC and other parties such as OPAE participate in the RTO stakeholder proceedings and in litigation before FERC regarding such issues and can offer valuable insight into the

appropriate recovery of transmission costs. In previous transmission cost recovery proceedings OCC has successfully challenged recovery of certain transmission cost by electric utilities. Consumers should not be denied this protective oversight in the future.

IV. CORPORATE SEPARATION – CHAPTER 4901:1-37

The promulgation of correct corporate separation rules is imperative if a competitive electric market is to develop in Ohio. The Corporate Separation rules, as proposed do not accomplish this. The PUCO must ensure that competitors can efficiently and effectively participate in the Ohio markets. If the PUCO does not accomplish this result, it is unlikely that competitors will focus on developing Ohio markets given the significant resources that will need to be expended to establish functioning markets in Ohio.

The assurance of a level playing field for competitors must take into account the competitive advantages electric utilities have historically enjoyed in Ohio. The PUCO's proposed rules accomplish none of these goals and, in fact, OCEA believes the draft rules represent a barrier to competition in Ohio. For example, under proposed rule 4901:1-37-04(A)(1), there is no valid reason to limit the application of structural safeguards to affiliates and utilities that operate within the utilities' service territory. FirstEnergy and Duke, for example, are well known beyond their own service territories. Trading upon the goodwill of the electric utility and failure to appropriately allocate expenses can be just as damaging to customers in another utilities' service territory as it is in its own. Using fully allocated costs, as OCEA pointed out in its Comments, may not be the true measure of the benefit to affiliates of sharing costs with the electric utility. Competitors may not, and usually do not, have affiliates that can share the costs of employees and

other resources. This places competitors in an immediate disadvantage – a disadvantage that hurts customers and Ohio markets.

It follows that the records of electric utilities and their affiliates must be open to inspection and evaluation. As proposed the rules appear to limit such evaluation to evaluation by PUCO staff.

OCEA disagrees with DP&L that the corporate separation rules language must be reconciled with other rules. There are reasons various elements of the rules are applicable to specific issues such as corporate separation. For example, the rules for special arrangements are promulgated under specific statutory authority that permits the rate discrimination banned by the corporate separation rules.

OCEA strongly disagrees with the proposed rule and Duke comments regarding an electric utility's compliance with the CAM requirements, SEC, and other reporting requirements establishing a rebuttable presumption of compliance with all corporate separation rules. The utility is in the best position to know what its various filing requirements are and demonstrate that they have been satisfied.

Finally, regarding 4901:1-37-05, OCEA disagrees with Duke that complaints should be made to legal counsel or customer service representatives. The complaints contemplated by the proposed rules pertain to corporate separation issues. To have complaints handled by an employee of the utility is completely inconsistent with all accepted corporate governance practices. The reporting and processing of such complaints is a "check" on management practices and such complaints must be made to the Board of Directors. As is recognized in independent audit, internal audit, ethics, and

in RTO market monitoring it simply does not work to have management be the "check" for management. This is and remains the responsibility of the Board of Directors.

V. SPECIAL ARRANGEMENTS – CHAPTER 4901:1-38

A. Definitions – 4901:1-38-01 (Rule 1)

FirstEnergy commented in this section that the Commission should treat delta revenues differently than it has in the past, especially for utilities that do not own their generation.

FirstEnergy argued that all delta revenues should be fully recovered from customers on a current basis. FirstEnergy pointed out that the benefit of special arrangements no longer exists because utilities are no longer building large baseload power stations. FirstEnergy also complained that stand-alone utilities no longer have the financial wherewithal to contribute to delta revenues. To the extent that FirstEnergy garners a steady flow of revenues, relatively risk free, from these customers as a distribution company, FirstEnergy benefits. It also benefits to the extent that its affiliate provides some or all of the generation services to FE customers. Finally, as good corporate citizens, whose first and foremost goal should be to serve its customers, FE should contribute to the community.

FirstEnergy should no more be permitted to avoid delta revenues than customers can. Accordingly, special arrangements should not be permitted unless utilities, whether stand-alone or not pay 50% of all delta revenues.

_

¹¹³ FE Comments at 26-27.

¹¹⁴ FE Comments at 26-27.

IEU asked that the Commission delete the definition of "energy efficiency production facility" and references to energy efficiency in Chapter 38 altogether based upon its arguments in Rule 4, below. This request is inappropriate as discussed in the Rule 4 section below and the Commission should not grant the request.

Nucor recommended revising the definition of "Nonfirm electric service" to also include customers who are interrupted for emergency/reliability purposes. The Commission should not make this change. The change would make the term "nonfirm electric service" meaningless because all electric service is curtailed or interrupted on an emergency/reliability basis.

B. Purpose and Scope—4901:1-38-02 (Rule 2)

DP&L argued that energy efficiency programs should not be treated as special arrangements because they are too different from economic development arrangements. Although, the energy efficiency programs should not be taken out of this rule, they are different from economic development arrangements in that they are cost justified because they are cheaper than procuring an energy supply for the demand they replace. Moreover, these programs do not produce delta revenues that need to be subsidized by other customers.

C. Economic Development Schedule—4901:1-38-03 (Rule 3)

DP&L complained that Rule 3 does not define "non-retail purposes" and suggested a definition. However, DP&L did not provide a justification or explanation as

¹¹⁵ Nucor Comments at 14.

¹¹⁶ DP&L Comments at 11.

to why the definition is needed or why its definition is appropriate.¹¹⁷ The Commission should not adopt the definition without better justification.

DP&L suggested modifications to Rule 3(A)(2)(d), which clarifies the kinds of projects that will be eligible for an economic development schedule. These clarifications are appropriate, important and should be adopted:

The project must have A NEW OR ADDITIONAL fixed asset investment in land, Building, machinery/equipment, and infrastructure AT A SINGLE LOCATION of at least five hundred thousand dollars.

OEG complained about the criteria required for existing customers to obtain an economic development schedule for the retention of existing customers under Rule 3(d) and (e). Rule 3(d) requires that an applicant show that at least 10% of its operational costs are electric costs. OEG believes this requirement is unreasonable and should be removed from the rule.

The 10% rule under Rule 3(d) must be retained to prevent every large customer from threatening to leave the state if they do not get a subsidy on their electric service.

The 10% rule is reasonable because a customer will not leave based upon electricity prices unless a large portion of their costs are electricity. Moreover, it is logical to impose this test only on existing customers because the Commission must give customers who are not currently located within the state or are start ups or customers who are investing money in an expansion, a greater incentive than existing customers for economic development purposes. Customers who must move into the state or expand in

¹¹⁹ OEG Comments at 8.

¹¹⁷ DP&L at 11-12.

¹¹⁸ DP&L at 12.

the state are far less likely to chose to move or expand (all else being equal) than are existing customers likely to move out of Ohio.

OEG argued that the 10% test discriminates against existing customers who must pay the subsidy for customers who are new. But the expanded provisions in Rule 3(A) provide existing customers an opportunity to avoid the 10% rule by expanding their operations and qualifying for a discounted rate. Existing customers who are willing to increase the number of employees and make additional investments in Ohio should be rewarded, but they should not be rewarded if they do not provide additional benefits to Ohio and the customers who must pay some portion of the cost.

OEG perceives that the 10% test can be eliminated because Rule 3(B)(2)(e) has an additional test requiring the price of electricity "major factor" in its decision to cease, reduce, or relocate its facilities to an out-of-state site. OEG is incorrect. The proposed "major factor" test is ambiguous and relies solely on the customer's word. Such a subjective test cannot be the only test relied upon to determine whether existing customers should receive subsidies paid for, in part, by other customers.

OEG also suggested that new or expanding customers under Rule 3(A) be subject to a "major factor" test as is existing customers. This suggestion is reasonable. Even though the test is somewhat subjective, requiring potential or expanding customers to describe how the electric rates affect their decisions to expand or to move to Ohio would provide the Commission and other parties information to evaluate both the application

_

¹²⁰ OEG Comments at 7.

¹²¹ OEG Comments at 8.

and give insight as to how economic development programs can best work and bring the most benefits to Ohio for the discount dollar.

Nucor argued that customers who simply increase investment by \$500,000 should be eligible for an economic development incentive without having to employ twenty-five new employees are required under the Staff's proposed rule. ¹²²

IEU argued that the Commission should delete all of the Staff's eligibility requirements because they are inconsistent with flexibility. IEU suggested that the Commission should replace eligibility requirements with allowing each EDU to propose standardized schedules. Through this process the Commission can determine whether it is necessary for the Commission to standardize among utilities. IEU also requested that the rules state that any standardized schedule should not limit the utilities or customer's opportunity to obtain approval for any reasonable arrangement. 124

A public authority, such as the Commission should take the role of establishing eligibility requirements and standardizing schedules that require small customers to subsidize the rates of larger customers than should a private entity such as a utility. This recommendation is contrary to the purpose of Am. Sub. S.B. 221, as described by Governor Strickland as an "Energy, Jobs and Progress" initiative. ¹²⁵ Investments in land and assets provide a much less certain benefit to Ohio. While it could lead to increased activity in the community—it also may not. It depends if the customer is buying

¹²² Nucor Comments at 14.

¹²³ IEU Comments at 14.

¹²⁴ IEU Comments at 15.

¹²⁵ http://governor.ohio.gov/

everything for that increased investment from Ohio. For that reason, both the employment and investment requirements under Rule 3(A)(2)(b)-(d) should be met to obtain the new or expanding incentive.

Nucor also suggested that customers not be required to remain in business for at least twice the term of the incentives to receive an incentive as required under Rule 3(A)(2)(h). Rather, Nucor states that applicants should only be required to "use commercially reasonable efforts to maintain its operations." The standard recommended by Nucor is too vague to keep customers accountable for the commitment they are supposedly making in exchange for a subsidy. As such, it would allow customers to forum shop each year for the best deal they can get from each state on utility and tax rates. Employing citizens of Ohio for such a limited period and then laying them off brings little if any economic stability to Ohio and accordingly, the Commission should not revise the Staff's proposed rule to limit the commitment to remain in business for at least twice the term of the incentives.

AEP commented that the Ohio Department of Development, the Commission or some other agency in the state of Ohio should "identify and screen potential candidates or projects that should be deemed worthy of the classification as economic development for which other utility customers benefit from and should help pay." AEP expressed concern that the "filtering" criteria in (B)(2) is too ambiguous and may not sufficiently limit the number and size of companies receiving economic development subsidies. 128

¹²⁶ Nucor Comments at 16.

¹²⁷ AEP Comments at 20.

¹²⁸ AEP Comments at 20.

The Commission should take heed to this concern. Consumers who must subsidize economic development programs are already strapped with energy bills and their earnings have not kept up with inflation, particularly if they are unemployed or an exfactory working that is working three jobs and still not making what they made in the factory. Some entity, preferably a public authority that is accountable to the public, must prevent subsidies to large customers who are not providing the employment or investment benefits as a result of economic development subsidies.

Additionally AEP expresses concerns that utilities will not be able to ensure that the commitments made by the customers receiving economic development subsidies are met. AREO also expresses concerns regarding the economic development program and concerns that the related employment and investment commitments will not be enforced. Again, the Commission should not ignore these concerns. Energy costs are simply too high for all sizes of customers to allow these subsidies to flow to customers who are not meeting employment and investment commitments.

Without some kind of tabulation of the ongoing price tag of these subsidies, the cost could be enormous. For example, according to OEG, the cost of the subsidy of recently approved special arrangement with Solaris [sic] is a staggering \$52 million over ten years. With the utilities having no obligation to contribute, it is conceivable that there could be a proliferation of these special arrangements—as has occurred in the past—at a high cost to the consumers. The commission needs to be mindful of the tipping point for customers—at what point the total subsidy gets too high for a customer to pay his/her bill and therefore is subject to disconnection. Perhaps the special arrangements should be

¹²⁹ AEP Comments at 21.

¹³⁰ AREO Comments at 15.

treated as a line item on customers' bills in the same way PIPP is so that they can see the amount of the subsidy to the businesses.

Additionally, the economic development schedules should not vary, as requested by IEU.¹³¹ Nor should they be filed under seal. Economic development schedules should be easy for the customers who must subsidize the special rates to access and to understand. Special arrangements between customers and the utilities are not private matters due to the subsidy inherent in them. Therefore, all customers who obtain these discounts should be public knowledge, the discount they receive should be publicly available and the commitments the customers offer in exchange for the discounts should public knowledge in order to keep these customers accountable.

D. Energy Efficiency Schedule—4901:1-38-04 (Rule 4)

FirstEnergy and IEU take a far more expansive view of the potential for mercantile customer exemptions from efficiency targets in comments on proposed 4901:1-38-04 than Sub. Am. S.B. 221 allows. First Energy and IEU offer differing advice to the Commission regarding the proposed energy efficiency schedule. The two sets of comments fail to recognize the clear discretion Sub. Am. S.B. 221 confers on the PUCO to craft the mercantile customer exemption to energy efficiency related charges or the broad latitude offered under the draft rules in the provisions for Economic Development Schedules and Unique Arrangements. FirstEnergy stated:

R.C. 4928.66(C) does not limit the time period for the applicability of energy efficiency programs involving mercantile customers, and expressly provides that "existing" demand response, peak reduction and energy efficiency programs are to be counted. 132

.

¹³¹ IEU Comments at 15.

¹³² FirstEnergy Comments at 4.

Similarly, IEU stated:

S.B. 221 contemplates a much broader scope for customer-sited programs by mercantile customers than the proposed rules offer. Perhaps this scope will be appropriately respected in the proposed rules that will be issued under Sections 4928.64, 4928.65, and 4928.66, Revised Code. 133

These comments fail to appreciate the express grant of discretion that S.B. 221 under R.C. 4928.64 confers upon the PUCO in this area:

As used in section 4928.64 and 4928.65 of the Revised Code, "alternative energy resource" means an advanced energy resources or renewable energy resource, as defined in section 4928.01 of the Revised Code that has a placed-in service date of January 1, 1998, or after; or a mercantile customer-sited advance energy resource or renewable energy resourced, whether new or existing, that the mercantile customer commits for integration into the electric distribution utility's demand-response, energy efficiency, or peak demand reduction programs as provided under division (B)(2)(b) of section 4928.66 of the Revised Code (emphasis added).

The Companies seem also to confuse the language in S.B. 221 regarding recovery of cost for efficiency and demand programs with special arrangements based on energy efficiency investments. The physics of theses two different types of programs are such that demand-response measures, which pre-exist can produce benefits to the utility which may or may not result in savings to customers or delta revenues, while efficiency programs which pre-exist do not change the status quo, and therefore don't provide any change in resource allocation.

S.B. 221 does contain language allowing, but not requiring, the Commission to create an opportunity for some customer sited efficiency improvements to count towards the utility efficiency mandates under R.C. 4928.66. R.C. 4928.66 (A)(2)(c) states that the PUCO *may* exempt mercantile customers from the charges associated with the standard,

¹³³ IEU Comments at 16.

but does not require the exemptions. This discretion creates several implications. First, if the Commission determines that this exemption is simply unworkable, then the PUCO has the discretion to ignore it. Second, because the Commission has discretion in applying this provision, it may modify the implementation of the provision to ensure real savings occur. The applicable language is clear:

Any mechanism designed to recover the cost of energy efficiency and peak demand reduction programs under divisions (A)(1)(a) and (b) of this section may exempt mercantile customers that commit their demand-response or other customer-sited capabilities, whether existing or new, for integration into the electric distribution utility's demand-response, energy efficiency, or peak demand reduction programs, if the commission determines that that exemption reasonably encourages such customers to commit those capabilities to those programs. ¹³⁴

Again, it is important to emphasis here that the provision of S.B. 221 which forms the basis of this proposed rule is *discretionary* for the PUCO; the Commission *may* exempt mercantile customers from the charges associated with the standard, but the PUCO *must* require utilities to meet the annual savings benchmarks of the standard. Note also that the language states that if the Commission grants the opt-out, it must find that the exemption reasonably encourages the customers to commit those capabilities to the programs. This implies the need for new endeavors that would be dedicated for the purpose of these programs. ORC 4928.66 (A)(1)(a) contains no discretionary language:

Beginning in 2009, an electric distribution utility shall implement energy efficiency programs that achieve energy savings equivalent to at least three-tenths of one per cent of the total, annual average, and normalized kilowatt-hour sales of the electric distribution utility during the preceding three calendar years to customers in this state. The savings requirement, using such a three-year average, shall increase to an additional five-tenths of one per cent in 2010, seven-tenths of one per cent in 2011, eight-tenths of one

-

¹³⁴ ORC Sec. 4928.66 (A)(2)(c).

per cent in 2012, nine-tenths of one per cent in 2013, one per cent from 2014 to 2018, and two per cent each year thereafter, achieving a cumulative, annual energy savings in excess of twenty-two per cent by the end of 2025.

A clear distinction exists between these two sections. ORC Sec. 4928.66 (A)(2)(c) confers on the PUCO considerable discretion to allow mercantile customers to avoid efficiency related charges, and allows the PUCO to permit existing efficiency improvements with utility programs. However, the non-discretionary section, ORC 4928.66 (A)(1)(a) requires utilities to meet the mandated savings benchmarks. Again, the PUCO *may* exempt mercantile customers from the charges associated with the standard, but the PUCO *must* require utilities to meet the annual savings benchmarks of the standard.

By their very nature, *existing* efficiency improvements cannot create future savings, and since the PUCO has discretion with regard to one section, and no discretion is associated with regard to the other section, the PUCO must resolve the distinction by barring existing improvements from qualification towards benchmark achievement. Efficiency improvements, existing prior to the effective date of the standard, cannot in any circumstance contribute to future annual savings benchmarks. Enhancements to those improvements may qualify, but the standard should be analogous to the approach recommended for economic development contracts; there must be an increase in efficiency or employment.

Additionally, IEU and Nucor Steel proposed that the one thousand KW limit on customer load in the two forms of Energy Efficiency Schedules is too low. The proposed rules allow Economic Development Schedules and Unique Arrangements, and

_

¹³⁵ IEU Comments at 16-17; Nucor Comments at 18.

provide two avenues to establishment of a Unique Arrangement. We are unclear about the administrative purpose of the distinctions between these four types of Special Arrangements, but do not see any barrier to any reasonable arrangements between utilities and all customers. The proposed language for Unique Arrangements seems to be globally inclusive and may result in extensive subsidies.

Nucor requested that the Commission make similar changes to Rule 4(A) that it did in Rule 3(A). ¹³⁶ For the same reasons, discussed under the Rule 3 section, the Commission should not grant Nucor's request to allow a customers to benefit from energy efficiency programs with either employing 25 persons or investing \$500,000 in assets. The Commission should require applicants for the discount to meet both in order to meet the intent of the law. Additionally, applicants for discounts should be required to commit to maintaining operations for at least twice the term of the incentives.

DP&L's recommendations on energy efficiency special arrangements and the energy efficiency schedules are largely supported, however DP&L's recommendations on penalties for non-achievement of energy efficiency targets do not properly recognize the role of EDU's in monitoring the savings of those private actors offering efficiency savings for EDU targets.

DP&L's suggestion that energy efficiency and special arrangements are different regulatory animals, and should be dealt with in separate rule packages, is well advised. ¹³⁷ Energy efficiency self-directed programs have a place in these rules, but will be better addressed when the rules regarding energy efficiency standards are developed.

_

¹³⁶ Nucor Comments at 19.

¹³⁷ DP&L Comments at 11.

Additionally, DP&L's observation that if a mercantile customer is to provide qualifying energy efficiency to a utility, then the mercantile customer must have proved savings equal to or greater than the required statutory savings, is consistent with S.B. 221. ¹³⁸ If mercantile customers wish to avoid charges associated with efficiency targets, those mercantile customers must achieve savings on the order of the applicable benchmarks. Since efficiency resource acquisition is parallel to, but not identical to the provision of efficiency benefits to individual customers. The ordinary ratepayer has no specific need to require each individual customer seeking any sort of special arrangement to achieve a specific efficiency target. At the same time, it is the electric utility's responsibility to identify within a proposed special arrangement any delta revenues that might result and the verification program which will ensure the Commission and the public that such recovery is justified.

DP&L also requests more guidance from the PUCO regarding monitoring and verification in the context of self-directed savings achievement. This too makes sense, in coming rule sets it is expected that the PUCO will expand guidance in this area, and we suggest a uniform monitoring and verification procedure, like the International Performance Measurement and Verification Protocol (IPMVP).

However, DP&L's suggestion that EDU's should not be penalized if customersited efficiency providers do not achieve promised savings is not consistent with S.B.

221. 140 Utilities are responsible for meeting targets. Mercantile customers can provide a

¹³⁸ DP&L Comments at 18.

¹³⁹ DP&L Comments at 11.

¹⁴⁰ DP&L Comments at 13.

component of this compliance, but it remains the responsibility of the utility to meet the target. As the utility contracts for energy efficiency savings with the mercantile customer, the utility may impose contractual penalties upon the mercantile customer for failure to provide promised savings – this is a contractual issue, not a regulatory one. The utility must be placed in the position of ensuring the mercantile customer that makes a commitment meets that commitment. This provides a necessary system of checks and balances that ensure compliance without unnecessary regulatory meddling.

IEU requested the Commission to delete this entire Rule 4 because the eligibility requirements are inconsistent with the law. ¹⁴¹ This request has no basis and should be denied.

E. Reporting Requirements—4901:1-38-06 (Rule 6)

DP&L and FirstEnergy argued that it should not have to meet the reporting requirements under Rule 6(E). DP&L and FirstEnergy believe that the Commission is using the utilities as a conduit to ensure that the customer is complying with the economic development arrangement requirements because the Commission does not have jurisdiction over the customer.¹⁴²

DP&L complained that this puts it in an awkward position for ensuring that the customer provides correct information and meets the deadline. The Commission should require the utilities to obtain these reports because utilities have many similar requirements regarding arrangements between themselves and customers such as disconnection of customers etc. under Ohio Adm. Code 4901:1-10 and have always dealt

_

¹⁴¹ IEU at 16-17.

¹⁴² DP&L Comments at 14; FE Comments at 32.

¹⁴³ DP&L Comments at 14.

with them. Moreover, before an electric utility can pass costs on to other customers, it needs to verify that the pass through is justified. But DP&L makes a good point that it may not be able to ensure that the correct information is provided and that the customers are meeting the deadlines. Accordingly, the Commission should add a provision (C):

IF A CUSTOMER IS UNABLE TO DEMONSTRATE ON-GOING COMPLIANCE WITH THE SCHEDULE OR UNIQUE ARRANGEMENT OR IF THE CUSTOMER DOES NOT MEET THE REPORTING DEADLINES SET FORTH IN THIS RULE, THE CUSTOMER SHALL NOT RECEIVE THE DISCOUNT IT AUTHORIZED UNDER THIS RULE.

Other techniques can be used to ensure compliance. If a discount is coordinated with other economic development programs, the utility can request that the Ohio Department of Development or other funder to certify compliance with the agreement. To assist the utilities in determining whether a customer is complying with the terms and conditions of its special arrangement, the utilities should post annual notices in local newspapers that the customer is receiving electric service discounts and to retain those discounts the customer must meet certain ongoing employment and investment obligations. The notice should state the employment and investment obligations of the customer and should encourage any individual who believes that the customer is not meeting the commitments, to call the utility at a specified phone number. To implement this provision the Commission should add an additional provision (D):

A UTILITY THAT HAS SPECIAL ARRANGEMENTS WITH CUSTOMERS UNDER WHICH THE CUSTOMER HAS ONGOING EMPLOYMENT AND INVESTMENT OBLIGATIONS SHALL POST AN ANNUAL NOTICE IN A PAPER THAT IS LOCAL TO THE CUSTOMER'S EMPLOYMENT AND INVESTMENT OBLIGATIONS FOR EACH SUCH CUSTOMER. THE NOTICE SHALL STATE THAT THE CUSTOMER IS RECEIVING A SPECIAL ELECTRICITY RATE IN EXCHANGE FOR COMMITTING TO

EMPLOY A CERTAIN NUMBER OF INDIVIDUALS AND FOR MAKING A CERTAIN AMOUNT OF LOCAL INVESTMENT. THE NOTICE SHALL STATE THE NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES THE CUSTOMER IS REQUIRED TO MAINTAIN AND THE AMOUNT OF INVESTMENT THE CUSTOMER IS REQUIRED TO MAKE. THE UTILITY SHOULD ALSO CONSULT WITH OTHER ORGANIZATIONS PROVIDING ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT SUPPORT TO THE CUSTOMER TO ENSURE EMPLOYMENT AND INVESTMENT OBLIGATIONS ARE BEING MET.

F. Level of Incentives—Rule 4901:1-38-07 (Rule 7)

IEU also argued that the Commission should not set the level of incentives that economic development programs can provide and asked that the Commission delete Rule 7(D). 144 IEU complained that limiting the level of incentive permitted to the economic development customers and will "chill the creativity that Ohio must dispatch to accomplish its economic development and retention goals." IEU also recommended that the Commission allow customers to obtain more than one incentive. 145 Again, public authorities should not defer to private actors to set up subsidies for certain customers by other customers. The level of incentive should reflect the benefit the customer can show that it is providing customers. Private parties should not measure that benefit nor should they set incentives based upon their opinion of the benefit. Public parties must be accountable to the customers for this very public program.

The Commission should not complicate the economic development program by allowing customers to obtain more than one subsidy. The program should be clear, simple and easily understood by the customers who must subsidize the discounts.

_

¹⁴⁴ IEU Comments at 17.

¹⁴⁵ IEU Comments at 17.

Allowing customers to receive more than one subsidy would make it harder for customers to understand and to track.

Nucor expressed concerns about the protection of proprietary or confidential information that may be posted on the Commission's website in relation to special arrangements under Rule 7(C), which is reasonable. But neither the discount a customers receives under a special arrangement nor the associated commitments made by the customers should be considered proprietary or confidential. Such programs are paid for by the public and the exchanges being made on behalf of the public should be publicly available.

G. Revenue Recovery—Rule 4901:1-38-08 (Rule 8)

Duke recommended that the Commission add an additional paragraph (5) to this rule that provides for the full recovery of the delta revenue through other customers. This is not authorized under Sub. Am. S.B. 221. It is not Commission practice and should not be adopted. Utilities should be required to absorb at least 50% of the delta revenues because utilities benefit from economic development.

In addition, the Commission should be free, and should have a preference for, allocating the delta revenues to the customer class under which the company receiving the benefit is served. The justification for spreading the cost to residential and small business customers has long been that these customers benefit from the investment. While that may be true to some extent, the business suppliers of the company also benefit. For example, a company making automotive interiors benefits when the assembly plant it supplies receives a special contract. In fact, the benefit is more directly

¹⁴⁶ Nucor at 19.

felt by the supplying companies than by the residential customers—unless they happen to be one of the lucky persons to get a job out of the investment.

OEG urged the Commission to allow economic development contracts that result in a cost savings to the utility shareholders and ratepayers, such as interruptible contracts that reduce demand at system peaks. 147 Essentially OEG states that ratepayers will always benefit from when shareholders also benefit via the automatic recovery mechanisms or through the annual excessive earnings provision. 148 OEG's claim is highly speculative and would be very difficult for the Commission to ensure. It also presumes that efficient operation of the system will benefit ratepayers, which may not be true if an ESP is based on a revenue target. Moreover, OEG fails to adequately quantify how money taken out of the pockets of a struggling family for the benefit of an investor, benefits that struggling family. OEG's recommendation should be rejected.

Ormet insisted that the Commission should not provide for the hearing under Rule 8(A) simply on the basis that the utility may not have sufficient interest in the economic development schedule. 149 Ormet's recommendation should not be adopted because it would be contrary to the due process rights of customers who must pay the resulting subsidy. If the Commission sets an economic development schedule for hearing, the customer would be able to intervene to defend the schedule.

H. Failure to Comply—4901:1-38-09 (Rule 9)

DP&L requested that Rule 9(C) be revised to clarify that utilities need not refund customers for the discounts that DP&L fails to recovery from a non-compliant

¹⁴⁸ OEG Comments at 11.

¹⁴⁷ OEG Comments at 10.

¹⁴⁹ Ormet Comments at 3.

customer.¹⁵⁰ Utilities should have the incentive to collect from defaulting customers. The utilities will not have an incentive if they are not required to reimburse customers the uncollected amounts. If the utility believes that a business is not likely to comply with the provisions of a contract, then it should not enter into the contract. Other customers are not parties to the contract and have no ability to enforce it; they only pay for it. For that reason, Rule 9(C) should not be revised as suggested by DP&L.

FirstEnergy complained that the use of the term "substantially" in front of the word complies in Rule 9(A) should be removed because it creates ambiguity. Public authorities should be held accountable for ensuring that customers receiving discounts actually comply with the special arrangement. A public agency should be more concise about what compliance means and how the utility will be able to collect incentives from non-complying customers.

VI. CONCLUSION

OCEA appreciates the opportunity to reply to comments filed in response to the rules proposed in an Entry dated July 2, 2008. OCEA requests that the Commission carefully consider these comments and the comments of other interested parties in an effort to best implement the provisions contained in S.B. 221.

_

¹⁵⁰ DP&L Comments at 15.

¹⁵¹ FE Comments at 34.

Respectfully submitted,

JANINE L MIGDEN-OSTRANDER OHIO CONSUMERS' COUNSEL

/s/ Ann M. Hotz
Jeffrey L. Small, Counsel of Record
Terry L. Etter
Maureen R. Grady
Ann M. Hotz
Michael Idzkowski
Gregory Poulos
Richard Reese
Jacqueline Lake Roberts
Larry Sauer
Assistant Consumers' Counsel

Office of the Ohio Consumers' Counsel 10 West Broad Street, Suite 1800 Columbus, OH 43215 small@occ.state.oh.us etter@occ.state.oh.us grady@occ.state.oh.us hotz@occ.state.oh.us idzkowski@occ.state.oh.us poulos@occ.state.oh.us roberts@occ.state.oh.us roberts@occ.state.oh.us sauer@occ.state.oh.us

PH: (614) 466-8574

/s/ Leigh Herington - AMH_

Leigh Herington Executive Director NOPEC 31320 Solon Rd., Ste. 20 Solon, OH 44139 nopec@windstream.net

PH: (440) 248-1992

/s/ Brandi Whetsone - AMH_

Brandi Whetstone Sierra Club Ohio Chapter 131 N. High St., Suite 605 Columbus, OH 43215

Brandi.whetstone@sierraclub.org PH: (614) 461-0734 ext. 311

/s/ David C. Rinebolt - AMH_

David C. Rinebolt Colleen L. Mooney Ohio Partners for Affordable Energy 231 West Lima St., P.O. Box 1793 Findlay, OH 45839-1793 drinebolt@aol.com cmooney2@columbus.rr.com

PH: (419) 425-8860

/s/ Gregory E. Hitzhusen - AMH_

Gregory E. Hitzhusen, MDiv, Ph.D. Executive Director, Ohio Interfaith Power and Light P.O. Box 26671 Columbus, OH 43226 ohioipl@gmail.com

/s/ Michael R. Smalz - AMH_

Michael R. Smalz Joseph V. Maskovyak Ohio State Legal Services Association Appalachian People's Action Coalition 555 Buttles Avenue Columbus, OH 43215 msmalz@oslsa.org jmaskovyak@oslsa.org

PH: (614) 221-7201

/s/ Noel M. Morgan - AMH_

Noel M. Morgan Communities United for Action Legal Aid Society of Southwest Ohio 215 E. Ninth St. Cincinnati, OH 45202 nmorgan@lascinti.org

PH: (513) 362-2837

/s/ Theodore Robinson - AMH_

Theodore Robinson
Staff Attorney and Counsel
Citizen Power
2424 Dock Road
Madison, OH 44057
robinson@citizenpower.com

/s/ Ron Bridges - AMH_

Ron Bridges Associate State Director Government Affairs & Advocacy AARP Ohio 17 S. High Street, #800 Columbus, OH 43215 rbridges@aarp.org

PH: (614) 222-1503 (direct)

/s/ Wendy B. Jaehn - AMH_

Wendy B. Jaehn
Executive Director
Midwest Energy Efficiency Alliance
645 N. Michigan Ave., Ste. 990
Chicago, IL 60611
wjaehn@mwalliance.org

/s/ Ellis Jacobs - AMH_

Ellis Jacobs
The Edgemont Neighborhood Coalition
of Dayton
Advocates for Basic Legal Equality
333 W. First St. Ste. 500
Dayton, OH 45402
ejacobs@ablelaw.org
PH: (937) 535-4419

/s/ Leslie A. Kovacik – AMH_

Leslie A. Kovacik Dept. of Law City of Toledo/NOAC 420 Madison Ave., 4th Fl. Toledo, OH

Leslie.kovacik@toledo.oh.gov

PH: (419) 245-1893

/s/ Lance M. Keiffer - AMH

Lance M. Keiffer, Asst. Prosecutor Lucas County/NOAC 711 Adams Street, 2nd Floor Toledo, OH 43624-1680 lkeiffer@co.lucas.oh.us PH: (419) 213-4596

/s/ Joseph Logan - AMH

Joseph Logan Ohio Farmers Union 20 S. Third St., Ste. 130 Columbus, OH 43215 <u>j-logan@ohfarmersunion.org</u>

PH: (614) 221-7083

/s/ Amy Gomberg - AMH_

Amy Gomberg
Environment Ohio
203 E. Broad St., Suite 3
Columbus, OH 43215
agomberg@EnvironmentOhio.org

PH: (614) 460-8732

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that the foregoing Reply Comments by the Consumer Coalition have been served via First Class U.S. Mail, postage prepaid, to the following persons this 6th day of August, 2008.

/s/ Ann M. Hotz_____

Ann M. Hotz

Assistant Consumers' Counsel

PARTIES SERVED

David Boehm Michael Kurtz Boehm, Kurtz & Lowry 36 E. Seventh St., Ste. 1510 Cincinnati, OH 45202-4454

John Bentine Mark Yurick Chester, Willcox & Saxbe LLP 65 E. State St., Ste. 1000 Columbus, OH 43215-4213

James Burk Arthur Korkosz Harvey L. Wagner Ebony Miller Mark Hayden Firstenergy Crop. 76 S. Main St. Akron, OH 44308 Glenn Krassen
E. Brett Breitschwerdt
Thomas O'Brien
Sally W. Bloomfield
Bricker & Eckler, LLP
100 South Third St.
Columbus, OH 43215

Garrett Stone Michael Lavanga Brickfield, Burchette, Ritts & Stone 1025 Thomas Jefferson St., N.W. 8th West Tower Washington, D.C. 20007

Sam Randazzo Lisa McAlister Daniel Neilsen Joseph Clark McNees, Wallace & Nurick LLC 21 E. State St., 17th Fl. Columbus, OH 43215 Dave Rinebolt Colleen Mooney Ohio Partners for Affordable Energy 231 W. Lima St., P.O. 1793 Findlay, OH 45839-1793

Trent Dougherty 1207 Grandview Ave., Ste. 201 Columbus, OH 43212

Ron Bridges 17 S. High St., Ste. 800 Columbus, OH 43215 Ellis Jacobs 333 W. First St., Ste. 500B Dayton, OH 45402

Michael Smalz Ohio State Legal Serv. 555 Buttles Ave. Columbus, OH 43215 Dane Stinson 10 W. Broad St., Ste. 2100 Columbus, OH 43215

Tim Walters c/o The May Dugen Center 4115 Bridge Ave. Cleveland, OH 44113 Leslie Kovacik City of Toledo 420 Madison Ave., Ste. 100 Toledo, OH 43604-1219

Selwyn J.R. Dias 88 E. Broad St., Ste. 800 Columbus, OH 43215 Marvin Resnik
Steve Nourse
American Electric Power Service Corp.
1 Riverside Plaza, 29th Fl.
Columbus, OH 43215

Noel Morgan 215 E. Ninth St., Ste. 200 Cincinnati, OH 45202 Brandi Whetstone Sierra Club Ohio Chapter 131 N. High St., Suite 605 Columbus, OH 43215

Steven Millard 200 Tower City Center 50 Public Square Cleveland, OH 44113 Jenna Johnson-Holmes
Dona Seger Lawson
Judi Sobecki
Dayton Power & Light Co.
1065 Woodman Dr.
Dayton, OH 45432

Gene Krebs 846 ½ E. Main St. Columbus, OH 43205

Lance M. Keiffer, Asst. Prosecuting Attorney 711 Adams St. Toledo, OH 43624 Rev. Mike Frank 5920 Engle Ave. Cleveland, OH 44127

Denis George 1014 Vine St., G07 Cincinnati, OH 45202

Jack Shaner 1207 Grandview Ave., Ste. 201 Columbus, OH 43212

Richard L. Sites 155 E. Broad St., 15th Fl. Columbus, OH 43215-3620

The Ohio Cast Metals Assoc. 2969 Scioto Place Columbus, OH 43221

Randell J. Corbin AMP-Ohio 2600 Airport Dr. Columbus, OH 43219

Jerry Klenke Richard Lewis David Varda 8050 N. High St., Ste. 150 Columbus, OH 43235-6486 Joseph Meissner 1223 W. Sixth St. Cleveland, OH 44113

Barth Royer Bell & Royer Co. LPA 33 s. Grant Ave. Columbus, OH 43215-3927

Dale Arnold Ohio Farm Bureau Federation Inc. P.O. Box 182383 Columbus, OH 43218

M. Howard Petricoff Vorys, Sater, Seymour & Pease 52 E. Gay St., P.O. Box 1008 Columbus, OH 43216

The Ohio Aggregates & Industrial Minerals Assoc.
162 North Hamilton Rd.
Gahanna, OH 43230

Melissa Mullarkey 740 Quail Ridge Dr. Westmont, IL 60559

Tommy Temple Whitfield A. Russell Ormet Primary Aluminum Corp. 4232 King St. Alexandria, VA 22302 Rebecca Stanfield Senior Energy Advocate Natural Resources Defense Council 101 N. Wacker Dr., Ste. 609 Chicago, IL 60606

Amy Gomberg Environment Ohio - Environmental Advocate 203 E. Broad St., Suite 3 Columbus, OH 43215

Leigh Herington Executive Director NOPEC 31320 Solon Rd., Ste. 20 Solon, OH 44139

Robert J. Triozzi Steven L. Beeler City of Cleveland Cleveland City Hall 601 Lakeside Avenue, Room 206 Cleveland, OH 44114-1077

Steve Lesser Russ Gooden Attorney General's Office Public Utilities Commission of Ohio 180 E. Broad St., 9th Fl. Columbus, OH 43215

Amy Ewing Greater Cincinnati Health Council 2100 Sherman Ave., Ste. 100 Cincinnati, OH 45212-2775 Joseph Logan Ohio Farmers Union 20 S. Third St., Ste. 130 Columbus, OH 43215

Gregory E. Hitzhusen, MDiv, Ph.D. Executive Director, Ohio Interfaith Power and Light P.O. Box 26671 Columbus, OH 43226

Theodore Robinson Staff Attorney and Counsel Citizen Power 2424 Dock Road Madison, OH 44057

Paul A. Colbert Amy Spiller Tamara R. Reid-McIntosh Duke Energy Ohio, Inc. 155 E. Broad St., 21st Floor Columbus, OH 43215

Nolan Moser Air & Energy Program Manager The Ohio Environmental Council 1207 Grandview Ave., Ste. 201 Columbus, OH 43212-3449

Craig I. Smith Attorney at Law 2824 Coventry Road Cleveland, OH 44120 This foregoing document was electronically filed with the Public Utilities

Commission of Ohio Docketing Information System on

8/6/2008 5:14:16 PM

in

Case No(s). 08-0777-EL-ORD

Summary: Reply Reply Comments by the Ohio Consumer and Environmental Advocates electronically filed by Ms. Deb J. Bingham on behalf of Hotz, Ann M.